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Preface

Exactly twenty years ago I wrote a biography entitled Rembrandt and his
World, long since out of print, in which I attempted through a precise
account of the artist’s life and ambiance to offer a more truthful portrait
than emerges from the romantic interpretations which the artist regularly
attracts. Apart from revising my text to bring it up to date with recent
scholarship, which involved substantial rewriting in a number of places, I
have taken the opportunity to expand the scope of the original book by
including a discussion of Rembrandt’s art as well as his life with the
intention of providing a more comprehensive introduction to the artist.

It is greatly to be regretted that the present owner of what is arguably
Rembrandt’s greatest portrait, that of Jan Six, has refused permission for it
to be reproduced in this book.



CHAPTER ONE

A provincial youth

‘20 MAI 1620 REMBRANDUS HERMANNI LEYDENSIS STUDIOS [US| LITTERARUM
ANNOR[UM| 14 APUD PARENTES.” This brief notice of Rembrandt’s
registration as a student at the University in Leiden is the very first
reference to the artist. It is no more cryptic than the various documents
referring to any great man’s carly years, but in Rembrandt’s case the
situation remains much the same throughout his life. We have almost
exclusively bare facts with no gloss: legal documents, church notices of
baptisms and burials, and records of purchases of both property and works
of art. With few exceptions they tell us no more than the events they
record, and like Shakespeare’s ‘laundry bill’ depend on our interpretation.

Literary sources are fortunately a little more illuminating, although
Rembrandt’s own ‘literary remains’ amount to no more than seven
business letters, formal and dignified in tone, in which the writer never
allows his personality to emerge. Contemporary accounts of his life and art
are frequently positively misleading. Rembrandt never had a Condivi, nor
would he have wanted one. Perhaps he got the biographérs he deserved;
certainly none of them put his point of view.

The two principal seventeenth-century biographies, both published
after Rembrandt’s death, were written by the German artist and writer

1 Notice of Rembrandt’s registration as a student, 1620
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2 PiETER BAST View of Leiden (detail), 1601

Joachim von Sandrart (1675) and by the Italian writer on art, Filippo
Baldinucci (1686). The former had worked in Amsterdam from 1637 until
the early 16405, and would therefore have known the artist and his practice
up to this time. On the other hand he wrote from a classicist point of view,
which rendered much of Rembrandt’s art unsympathetic and deplorable.
The Italian writer was entirely dependent on the testimony of a former
pupil of Rembrandt, Bernhard Keil, who had left Amsterdam by 16571.
Apart from the attitudes of the two writers, neither could speak with
authority on the last twenty-five to thirty years of the artist’s life. The
longest and most circumstantial life, written by the Dutch writer Arnold
Houbraken, only appeared in 1718. Although as a pupil of Samuel van
Hoogstraten, in turn a pupil of Rembrandt, he had direct access to first-
hand knowledge, he wrote at a time when a combination of a classicist
critique inimical to the late Rembrandt in particular and a mass of legend
had developed. Yet although much of the criticism in these and other
writings on the artist is often based on false premises and inaccurate
information, enough of value remains to piece together with the known
facts a reasonably rounded image of the artist.

Turning to Rembrandt’s art one soon discovers that no one has treated
the human emotions more directly or more profoundly. ‘One should be
guided only by Nature and no other rules,” he is supposed to have said —and
by and large he practised what he preached. He surrounds us with living,
thinking people and invites us to converse with them, to share their joys
and sorrows. They are so real that it is tempting to assume that they are an
elaborate self-portrait and that his art is directly dependent on the events
and emotions of his own life. But between the two there is often a wide




gap. The detachment that any arust shows towards his daily existence is no
less present in the work of Rembrandt, though it is more deceptively
camouflaged.

The personality of the painter is clusive. From the numecrous sclf-
portraits he stares thoughtfully and directly, but with a great sense of
withdrawal. He is watching as much as he is being watched. He does not
yield up his secrets easily. He has all the reticence of a true Dutchman.

Rembrandt Harmenszoon van Rijn was born in Leiden on 15 July 1606,
the son of Harmen Gerritszoon van Rijn and Neeltge van Suydtbrock. The
date of his birth is significant, for only three years later Holland was to
achieve the peace and freedom for which she had been fighting so
doggedly. The Twelve Years Truce was Spain’s recognition of her
independence. From war, the country was able to turn to more creative
cultural and economic aims. It scems hardly fortuitous that Rembrandt’s
life should span the most fertile period in Dutch history.

3 Pierer BAST Bird's eye view of Leiden (dctail), 1600




The town where Rembrandt was born was, thanks to its position at the
centre of the cloth industry, rich and powertful in the seventeenth century,
second in size only to Amsterdam. With the Old Rhine as a border on one
side. Leiden was built along a wide canal, called the Rapenburg. Today
it retains its essential character and allows us to sense the elegance and
stateliness which was once part of its daily life. Above all, it boasted a
famous university which attracted foreigners from all parts of the world.
No other Dutch university approached it either in size or standards. Its
pride was pardonable.

Rembrandt’s family connections with the city of Leiden go back to 1513,
when his great-great-grandfather is mentioned as a miller there. In 1575,
his paternal grandmother and her second husband. a miller. bought a
windmill outside the town. She and her two children by her first marriage,
Rembrandt’s father and aunt, had already joined the miller in one of the
houses he owned in the Weddesteeg, a small street on the north of the town
near the Wittepoort. The houses overlooked the Rhine, and their view of
the constant flow of river traffic was framed on both sides by windmills,
one of which was owned by the family, and was later called De Rijn.

The two children remained in their mother’s new home until the
daughter left to marry a bargee. A few years later the son, Harmen, also
married, choosing Neclgje van Suydtbroek, a baker’s daughter, as his bride.
Harmen moved, but not far. Shortly after his marriage he concluded a deal
with his stepfather” whereby, for a specified sum, he bought half of the
windmill in the Weddesteeg (no. 1 on the map), part of the building
adjoining it, and a newly built house (no. 2) adjoining his stepfather’s (no.
3). He also called himself Vande Rijn after his mill. It was probably in this
house that Rembrandt was born, the last but one in a family of at least nine
children. His father belonged to the Reformed Church, in which
Rembrandt was brought up, while his mother continued to practise as a
Roman Catholic, a fact indicative of the general religious tolerance to be
found in Holland.

Rembrandt, who tended to take his models from those around him, may
well have left us a number of studies of both parents. The most plausible
likeness of his father occurs in'a drawing inscribed with the sitter’s name in
a contemporary hand. Style confirms what common sense tells us. It
cannot have been made long before his father’s death in 1630. The
expression on the face shows the old miller oblivious to the outside world,
and totally absorbed in clinging to his fast-departing strength. Indeed it has
been suggested that this drawing provides evidence that Rembrandt’s
father went blind in old age, which, if true, would give a personal reason
for the artist’s later partiality for themes connected with blindness.
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4 The Artist’s Father(?), c. 1630

The artist’s mother, who outlived her husband by ten years, may have
been a more frequent model at least up to the time of her son’s final
departure from their home town. A later inventory gives her as the subject
ofan etching, but there can be no certain identification between her and the
old woman who makes frequent appearances as the personification of
dignified old age in various guises in a number of Rembrandt’s early works.
One example of the latter was presented to Charles I shortly after it was
painted, but apart from the fact that the model is arguably a good deal older s
than the artist’s mother would have been at the time, it was catalogued
within a decade of its execution as a genre study rather than a portrait. (A
self-portrait, also in Charles I's collection, was accurately described.)
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5 Old Woman: the Artis’s Mother(?), c. 1629




No doubt Rembrandt’s brothers and sisters played their part as models
but none of them can be identified with any degree of certainty in his work,
although some attempts have been made to recognize his eldest brother,
Adriaen, who spent the whole of his life in Leiden, first as a shoemaker and
then in the family business of milling. Like Adriaen the remainder of the
family stayed in Leiden and the men probably became tradesmen. After his
final departure for Amsterdam, Rembrandt appears to have had almost no
further contact with his family.

Rembrandt must have stood out as the intelligent member of the family,
for at the age of seven he was sent to the Latin School where, as the name
suggests, he would have been well grounded in Latin, as well as religious
instruction of the Bible from the Calvinist viewpoint. From there he
entered the University seven years later. Though it must have been fairly
unusual for a miller’s son to go to university we cannot credit Rembrandt’s
parents with clairvoyance. He was a clever boy and they took advantage of
the education available, which also gave him a number of privileges, such
as exemption from civic guard duty and a tax-free quota of wine and beer.
But it took Rembrandt only a few months to make up his mind that he was
not suited to academic learning and to persuade his parents to remove him.
Though far from being the illiterate that some of his biographers made him
out to be, Rembrandt does not appear to have been wholly in sympathy
with Dutch humanistic learning. The allegorical and emblematic literature
of the time was largely alien to his art. But when the occasion arose, he was
perfectly capable of looking up a Classical text and understanding the spirit
of what he read.

His parents allowed him to take up painting, which by this time must
have emerged as his presiding passion. They apprenticed him to Jacob van
Swanenburgh, an undistinguished local painter of portraits, architectural
scenes and diableries in the manner of Hieronymus Bosch, who had been to
Italy, returning with a knowledge of the Italian scene and a Neapolitan
wife. Rembrandt spent three years in his studio, where he must have learnt
the mechanics of painting, if little more. No reflection of his first master can
be discerned in his carliest works.

For all its importance as a centre of learning and trade, artistically Leiden
was a backwater. In 1624 the more important part of Rembrandt’s artistic
education began. He was sent to Amsterdam to work for six months in the
studio of Pieter Lastman, who after a year or two in Italy working under
the influence of both Caravaggio and Adam Elsheimer, had sct up as a
successful and influential painter of religious and mythological subjects.
Rembrandt’s second master, unlike his first, made a deep impression on
him. His work for the next few years shows his debt, and some ten years
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6 PiETER LastmaN The Angel and the Prophet Balaam, 1622

later he was still making copies after paintings by Lastman. It was in his
studio that Rembrandt developed the taste for Biblical subjects which
remained with him for the rest of his life, unlike other Dutch painters of the
century. Morcover, he learnt from Lastman’s example to depict them in
dramatic compositions enhanced by a wide range of lively expressions and
gestures in bright clear colours.

By 1625 Rembrandt had returned to Leiden and set up as an independent
artist. He can have felt little challenge from the local painters who, apart
from his former master, Van Swanenburgh, consisted of such minor
figures as Joris van Schooten, a painter of still lives and the occasional
Biblical subject. It was then if not before that he came into contact with his
fellow townsman Jan Lievens, one year his junior. According to the
account of the local burgomaster, Licvens had been apprenticed to Van
Schooten at the age of eight (Rembrandt was still at his Latin School), and
two years later went to work in Lastman’s studio in Amsterdam. He is then
reported to have returned to Leiden after a further two years and set up as
an independent painter at the unlikely age of twelve in 1619. What he
looked like about a decade later can probably be seen from a supposed self-
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7 JaN L1EVENS Self-portrait, ¢. 163§

portrait, possibly painted in England, which contains more than a touch of
the Van Dyckian elegance that was to lure him away from the style of his
Leiden years. It is a revealing facet of Lievens’ character that his conceit and
refusal to accept criticism was remarked upon by both Constantijn
Huygens shortly before this picture was painted, and by the aging Earl of
Ancrum living in retirement in Amsterdam twenty-five years later.

When Rembrandt returned to Leiden he was nineteen and Lievens
eighteen. Perhaps Lastman suggested that Rembrandt call upon his old
pupil. Their common training gave them a unity of purpose which shows
in the similarity of their aims during these years. and within a few years
their works were being confused. An inventory of paintings belonging to
Prince Frederick Henry in 1632 refers to ‘A Simeon in the Temple, holding
Christ in his arms, done either by Rembrandt or Jan Lievens’. The local
historian said that they shared a studio. which is quite likely.



8

Rembrandt’s appearance at this time can be seen in an etching, though he
was probably using himself as a model rather than producing an intentional
self-portrait. It has all the spontaneity of a vigorous pen sketch, which was
no mean achievement on a grounded copper plate, even if it cannot be
regarded as a technical success. There is something aggressive and slightly
farouche about the coarse-featured face. The large bulbous nose which in
so many later self-portraits Rembrandt took pains to hide is here quite
apparent. The hair is wild. But it is the eyes with their piercing intensity
which give stature to an otherwise uncouth appearance. Awkward and
uncompromising he undoubtedly was; the determination which never
allowed him to swerve from his own chosen path is already apparent in his
face.

A very different impression is gained from a painting executed about the
same time, which unlike the etching probably was intended as a self-
portrait. Painting with an unusual degree of finesse for the Leiden years, the
artist presents himself in the most flattering light. Carefully arranged
shading softens the effect of the plebeian nose, and the beautifully groomed
hair and kiss-curl add a touch of surprising elegance. He is stylishly if
fancifully dressed in a gorget over a white collar. With its cool, aloof
expression, the portrait must have been designed to impress. Probably a
more accurate record of Rembrandt’s appearance can be gathered from the
picture painted by his companion, Jan Lievens, about the same time. The
sitter’s aspect is pleasant and honest but considerably less aristocratic. The
beret, curled hair falling over the scarf tied around the neck, also protected
by a gorget, offer more than a hint of the young artist.

Rembrandt lost no time in establishing the pattern of his artistic carcer,
and most of his recognizable characteristics are already to be seen in
cmbryo in the works he produced over the next six years. Unlike the
majority of his fellow artists in Holland, he never allowed himself to
become a specialist in one or two areas. Although we revere him above all
as an interpreter of religious subjects and as a portraitist (an aspect of his
work only to be developed in his Amsterdam years), during the course of
his life he turned his attention at one time or another to mythological and
Classical subjects, landscapes, nudes, genre scenes and cven the occasional
still life, although he never appears to have produced a flower-piece. And
within cach category of subject he often crosses the border to another, so
that genre will be subtly merged with portraiture, portraiture with
religious iconography, religious iconography with landscape, and so on.
His range of expression provides evidence of a unified artistic personality
rather than merely suggesting an adept exponent in different areas of
specialization.
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8 Self-portrait Bareheaded. 1629



9 Self-portrait, c. 1631

Variety was a factor in every aspect of his art. At one moment he works
on a miniature scale in an exquisitely refined technique, at the next on a
monumental size with a bold and broad execution of brush or pen. The
tradition of the ‘peintre-graveur’ had already been established in the
sixteenth century by such artists as Durer and Mantegna, but Rembrandt
was to realize the potentialities of a double career in an entirely novel
manner. He painted, drew and etched from the outset, although to begin
with the first was the prime medium and the other two followed in its
wake. But he soon learnt to develop both drawing and etching along paths
of their own, and to attain the inherent pictorial possibilities of each
medium. Moreover, as an added refinement we discover that certain
subjects tend to be explored in one medium rather than another. Possibly
the most original aspect of his practice as an artist is to be found in his
attitude to drawing. In the Renaissance it was conceived as a preparatory
means towards achieving the finished work in whatever medium. The
apotheosis of this tradition is reached in the work of Rubens, most of whose

18



10 JAN LIEVENS
Portrait of Rembrandt, ¢. 1628

drawings were executed with an ulterior purpose. With Rembrandt only a
small percentage of his drawn oeuvre can be classed as working studies for
paintings or etchings. For the most part he used drawing either to record
what his eye saw or to create the images in his imagination, and as a few
contemporary collectors already acknowledged the results stood as self-
contained works of art.

The two artists did not work unnoticed for long. Already in 1628 when a
jurist from Utrecht, a certain Aernout van Buchell, visited Leiden he wrote
in his notebook, “The Leiden miller’s son is greatly praised, but before his
time.” The man from Utrecht was not so ready as the artist’s townsmen to
see genius writ large. Van Buchell was right in the end, but was it for the
right reasons?

A different kind of tribute to Rembrandt’s popularity is his acceptance in
the same year of his first pupil, Gerrit Dou, then a boy of fourteen, who
probably stayed in the master’s studio until Rembrandt left for
Amsterdam. Dou, however, remained behind in Leiden to become the
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founder of the Leiden school of ‘fine painters’ and one of the most
successful and fashionable artists of the age. His pupilage established a
practice which continued throughout Rembrandt’s life. By the time he left
Leiden for Amsterdam, he probably alrecady had three other pupils
working under him. His popularity as a teacher expanded immeasurably
after his move and Sandrart in his biography makes a special point of saying
that he ‘filled his house in Amsterdam with almost countless distinguished
children for instruction and learning’. Even in later years when his
popularity among fashionable socicty had waned he was not to work alone
in his studio.

In the story of Rembrandt’s recognition by his contemporaries, a no less
important event took place in 1629, and credit for this must undoubtedly
go to Rembrandt’s friend, Jan Lievens. By the winter of 1626—7 Lievens’
name had reached the ears of Constantijn Huygens, Secretary to the Prince
of Orange, who commissioned a portrait from the young Leiden painter.
There was some criticism among Huygens’ friends but the patron was
satisfied; ‘some people are of the opinion that the thoughtful expression
docs not give a true portrait of my character. But at the time I was seriously
preoccupied with important family matters, and my eyes reflected the cares
of my heart.” On 6 April 1627 Huygens was married.

For a young artist Huygens was the right person to know. He had a
distinguished and highly successful career as a diplomat and courtier. He
was ten ycars older than Rembrandt and had started his career as Secretary
to the Dutch Embassy, first in Venice and then in London, where he was
knighted by James 1. In 1625 he was appointed Secretary to the
Stadholder, Prince Frederick Henry of Orange, and remained in the service
of the House of Orange until his death over sixty years later.

Apart from his carcer, he was a dilettante of wide interests and
accomplishments. He kept a detailed diary, wrote an autobiography, and
carried on a correspondence with Descartes in three languages. He wrote
Latin verses, as well as finding time to translate the poetry of John Donne
into Dutch. He was an accomplished player of the chitarrone. He studied
astronomy, theology, and jurisprudence, and he was sufficiently athletic to
climb the spire of Strasbourg Cathedral. But above all he was passionately
interested in the visual arts. He would have become an artist had not his
father forbidden him. Painting was to be encouraged as one of the liberal
arts, but not as a full-time occupation. The artist manqué had to rest content
with his activities as artistic adviser to the Stadhelder.

In 1629 this polyglot and virtuoso visited Leiden. He did not fail to call
on the young man who had painted the portrait, and one assumes that at
the same time he made the acquaintance of Rembrandt. For Rembrandt

20



11 JAN Lievens Constantijn Huygens (detail), 1626—7

this was an important moment, while on his side Huygens was impressed,
and made much of it in his autobiography. He was fully aware of the
humbleness of their origins. For him this convincingly disproved the
theory of the superiority of noble blood, an argument frequently aired in
the aristocratic milieu of the writer. He judged Rembrandt and Lievens as
already the equals of the most famous painters (this just a year after Van
Buchell’s crabbed scepticism), and forecast that they would soon surpass
them.

Huygens found both Rembrandt and Lievens both unconcernedly self-
absorbed in their own restricted world and was clearly puzzled why they
refused to visit Italy. For the North, Rome had become the Mecca of art,
and from the second half of the sixteenth century onwards an increasing
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number of artists had flocked there, sometimes to remain for the rest of
their lives. It was a sign of the times that Huygens should ask Rembrandt
and Lievens why they did not make the pilgrimage which would have
given them the opportunity of studying the art of Michelangelo and
Raphael. The young men, who, it must be remembered, were trained in
the studio of an artist who had spent a year or two in Italy, answered that
they were far too busy in the flower of their youth, and besides, some of the
finest [talian works were to be seen in Holland. This joint reply has a ring of
independence and practical truth, which from subsequent events we know
to be more characteristic of Rembrandt than of Lievens, even if one cannot
go as far as to identify the former as the spokesman. Throughout his life
Rembrandt lived up to his word and made drawings after Italian and other
works which were absorbed into the bloodstream of his art.

Huygens, apart from making intelligent conversation, studied and
criticized their work. Lievens’ had a grandeur of invention and boldness
not to be found to such a marked degree in the work of Rembrandt. But
the latter was superior in judgment and the representation of lively
emotional expression. Huygens picks out Rembrandt’s Judas returning the
Thirty Pieces of Silver, painted in this year, to prove his point. He praises the
description of the differing emotions of each of the participants, above all
the agonized remorse of Judas. In a small panel Rembrandt has conjured up
a dramatic scene from the Bible. This is the first acknowledgment of the
supreme storyteller Rembrandt was to become.

Huygens may well have turned his admiration into something more
immediately concrete. The same year the Earl of Ancrum visited the
Netherlands as Charles I's personal representative, to offer his master’s
condolences to the King and Queen of Bohemia on the death of their son.
Frederick Henry presented Ancrum with a painting by Lievens, which he
in turn gave to Charles I. Probably at the same time he took back two
paintings by Rembrandet, a self-portrait and the study of an old woman (his
mother ?), which were also presented to Charles I. Ancrum would have
met Huygens by virtue of his position, and they would have found one
another congenial company, for Ancrum was a lifelong friend of John
Donne, whose poems Huygens had translated. Perhaps Huygens recom-
mended Rembrandt as an artist worthy of representation in the English
royal collection either directly to Ancrum or more probably to the Stad-
holder who included them with a painting by Lievens as part of the gift.

During his years in Leiden Rembrandt’s art developed rapidly from such
Lastman-inspired works as The Angel and the Prophet Balaam, painted the
year after his return from Amsterdam, in this instance probably in direct
emulation of his former master’s treatment of the same subject. The highly
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12 The Angel and the Prophet Balaam, 1626



expressive gesticulating figures of the two participants, painted on a grand
scale in cool contrasting colours, fill the foreground of the picture and
actively engage the spectator’s attention in the vigorous if unsubtle
drama which unfolds. But already we see something of Rembrandt’s
originality in his emphatic description of cach figure in bold brushstrokes,
as well as his transformation of the horizontal format invariably used by
Lastman to a vertical, allowing Rembrandt as yet unrealized opportunities
to depict an airy atmospheric space. He was soon to introduce the latter
quality into his work by the use of chiaroscuro. Modified and refined over
the years, it became onc of his most powertul vehicles of expression. At first
employed as a highly successful pictorial device, it was gradually moulded
into an immensely subtle means of suggesting psychological insight. The
source for this unusual play of contrasts between light and shadow was in
its initial form the painting of Caravaggio, known to Rembrandt to some
extent from Lastman’s work, but which he could have seen more
deliberately imitated in the works of the Utrecht artists, Gerrit van
Honthorst and Hendrick Terbruggen. A little later Rubens’ adaptation was
to provide yet another example.

The eftect of the introduction of chiaroscuro in Rembrandt’s painting is
immediately visible in Judas returning the Thirty Pieces of Silver, and to a

13 Judas returning the Thirty Pieces of Silver, 1629




14 The Presentation in the Temple, 1631

greater extent in The Presentation in the Temple of two years later. In the
latter work, the artist has fashioned a spot of brilliance over the huddled
central group within a darkened interior, so that mysteriously he discloses
the vast vaulted building peopled with chance spectators. By placing the
main action further back than he did in his carlier works, the artist draws
the viewer into the scene, determined at its nearest point by the two clderly
figures, who sit in the foreground like a Greek chorus witnessing an event.
Conveyed by delicate brushwork, atmosphere, that most intangible of vis-
ual phenomena, has now become an essential feature of Rembrandt’s art.
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5 CORNELIS DANCKERTS Map of Amsterdam, 1654
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CHAPTER TWO

Amsterdam and prosperity

After their initial success both Rembrandt and Lievens must have soon
realized that Leiden was too small an artistic centre to provide them with
the scope and commissions they needed and felt entitled to. And to prove
the point, the first major commission came to Rembrandt from
Amsterdam in 1631, when he was required to portray the rich merchant,
Nicolaes Ruts (Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York). Lievens on the
other hand is recorded in the same year as having gone to England for
several years to undertake work for the English court. It marked the end of
a memorable and original partnership. Henceforth the lives and progress of
the two artists diverge. Lievens pursued a more fashionable course, largely
inspired by Flemish painting, which he studied first-hand in Antwerp on
his way back from England, while Rembrandt took what was eventually
to become a much more solitary path.

Amsterdam around 1630 was at the beginning of its heyday. It was a
prosperous, rapidly growing city of about 150,000 inhabitants. From being
much like any other town in Holland, it had suddenly captured from
Antwerp the position of the leading port of northern Europe. It impressed
all who saw it. In later years Fénelon described it under the disguise of Tyre
‘crowded with merchants of every nation and its inhabitants are themselves
the most eminent merchants in the world. It appears at first not to be the
city of any particular people but to be common to all as the centre of their
commerce. The vessels in this harbour are so numerous, as almost to hide
the water in which they float; and the masts look at a distance like a forest.’
Descartes, less romantically, complained that ‘everyone is so engrossed in
furthering their own interests that I could spend the whole of my life there
without being noticed by a soul’.

Besides reaching a position as a leading mercantile city, it was also
becoming a centre of learning and culture. From a provincial town, it was
changing into the economic and cultural capital it has since remained. In
1632 the Athenacum Illustre was founded and later became the nucleus of
the new university. The previous year Casparus Barlacus, a Remonstrant
theologian from Leiden, arrived and was appointed Professor of
Philosophy and Medicine, to be followed in turn by other famous men.
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What must have impressed Rembrandt above all was the rapid new
building trying to keep pace with economic expansion. Already what had
been ficlds beyond the city when Rembrandt was last there was now built
over. The plan of the three main canals or grachten, which is the basis of the
modern city, was still being carried out. The leading architect of the period
was Hendrick de Keyser, who designed in the characteristic Dutch style:
red-brick houses with sandstone decoration and elaborate gables. In the
year that The Anatomy Lesson of Professor Tulp was painted, the Westerkerk
and the New Lutheran Church designed by him were completed. By the
end of the decade the city had its first theatre. Vondel could write, for once
without exaggeration, that ‘here resided the soul of the State of Holland’,
or, expressing it in an international context, of ‘Amsterdam which wears
the crown of Europe’.

In the ficld of painting Amsterdam may have lacked the solid
establishment and originality of the school of Haarlem or the special
character of what was being produced in Utrecht, but it offered a more

17 THOMAS DE KEYSER The Anatomy Lesson of Dr Sebastian Egbertsz., 1619




18 The Anatomy Lesson of Professor Tulp, 1632

flourishing scene than Leiden. History painting was still represented by
Lastman, who with the brothers Pynas, Jan (died 1631) and Jacob,
produced religious and mythological subjects in the manner of Elsheimer.
In the field of portraiture the favour of the Amsterdam clientele had been
captured by the precise, sober, unemphatic images of its leading citizens
painted by Nicolaes Eliasz. and Thomas de Keyser, respectively fifteen and
ten years older than Rembrandt. With a good supporting cast alrcady in
action, there was a vacant role for a star, which Rembrandt lost no time in
assuming.

Rembrandt’s piece de réception was The Anatomy Lesson of Professor Tulp,
finished in 1632. The tradition for this kind of group portrait went back to
the previous century. Dissections were few and far between — this was only
Tulp’s second — and they were treated as festive occasions attended by large
crowds. Rembrandt effected a revolution in the manner of representation.
Earlier examples had amounted to little more than a series of posed
portraits arranged around a skeleton, skull or head. Thomas de Keyser’s
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commemoration of The Anatomy Lesson of Dr Sebastian Egbertsz. in 1619
had sought to introduce some movement and variety by giving self-
conscious gestures to the two groups of men ranged on either side of the
skeleton. It was a group portrait first and foremost, with only the skull
providing a symbol of the nature of the event. Rembrandt transformed his
group portrait into a ‘history piece’. Instead of the posed group of standing
figures, he shows us the dissection in progress, or so it would seem. (It has
also been suggested that the picture records a private dissection among
colleagues which took place either immediately before or after the public
occasion.) Eager surgeons cluster round the professor, who starts his
dissection with a discussion of the left hand, taking his authority from the
book propped up at the corpse’s feet. (Tulp regarded himself in the direct
tradition of Vesalius, and we can surmise he follows the relevant plate and
text in the great anatomist’s epoch-making book of anatomy.) Rapt inner
unity is created as the praelector speaks and acts and his audience look and
listen. The active motions of the mind are eloquently conveyed in contrast
to the inertia of the corpse, placed in such a conspicuous diagonal position.
But if we are led to believe we are witnessing an actual event, we are
deceived, since the dissection invariably began with the stomach and not
the hand. Although presented with the trappings of reality, the picture was
not intended as an accurate record of what took place, and was as much
symbolic of the occasion as Thomas de Keyser’s picture of thirteen years
earlier. What impresses us and, we may deduce, Rembrandt’s
contemporaries is that the picture offers a living symbol of a particular
event.

Although probably commissioned by Tulp and paid for by those
portrayed, the painting belonged to the Amsterdam Guild of Surgeons,
which from 1619 to 1639 had a temporary anatomy theatre somewhere on
the upper floor of the south tower of the Anthoniesmarkt, which is seen in
an ctching by Zeeman. The old gateway on the left has been transformed
into a weighhouse. Later on they moved to St Margaret’s Hall, but by the
end of the century the Guild and the pictures were once again installed in
the Anthoniesmarket.

By a nice stroke of irony, the victim, who as usual was a criminal, was
also a native of Leiden who had been hanged for robbery with violence.
The hero of the piece, however, was one of the most distinguished
members of the Amsterdam establishment. Nicolaas Pietersz., or as he
called himself, Tulp, was the son of a cloth merchant. In 1619 he built
himselfa splendid house on the Keizersgracht, near the Westerkerk, which
had a tulip sculpted on the gable stone, and eleven years later built another
for his son-in-law, Arnold Tholinx, who was to be portrayed in one of
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19 ReiNier Noowms, called Zeeman The Anthoniesmarkt, Amsterdam

Rembrandt’s finest ctchings. In 1628 Tulp was appointed lecturer in
anatomy to the Amsterdam guild of surgeons, with the title of Professor,
and delivered his first public lectures in January 163 1. In addition he found
time to be a magistrate, Curator of both the Latin School and the
University, and to hold office eight times as City Treasurer and twice as
Burgomaster. He was a scholar of repute, and a member of the Muiden
circle. His artistic tastes were narrow, and he was a religious bigot, but he
was useful to know, and it can hardly have been coincidence that the
medical profession were among the most faithful of Rembrandt’s patrons
throughout his life.

In March 1631 Rembrandt had bought ‘a well situated garden lying
outside the White Gate’ at Leiden, suggesting that he had no intention of
moving. But he must have suddenly changed his mind and took up
residence in Amsterdam sometime after the beginning of July that year,
because as his first biographer, J. Orlers of Leiden (1641), explained, his art
met with such favour among the citizens of Amsterdam that he received
numerous commissions for portraits and other works. What may have
been intended as a relatively short visit became a lifelong stay, so that
Rembrandt remained in Amsterdam for the rest of his life. Apart from a
few journeys in Holland, nearly all undertaken for some specific purpose,
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he hardly travelled at all, and never as far as we know left his native
country. Unlike Lievens, what he told Huygens was the truth. He was too
busy to travel.

Four drawings of English views, two of Old St Paul’s, London, onc of
Windsor Castle, and another of St Alban’s Abbey, have sometimes been
taken as proof that Rembrandt visited England in 1640, the year in which
two of them are dated. None of the four is topographically accurate, and all
show a considerable amount of fantasy. Itis very unlikely that the artist saw
the scenes with his own eyes and the drawings were probably based on
views made by another artist. Around 1640, both several years before and
after, the same kind of architecture appears in the background of a number
of Rembrandt’s paintings. It was probably in connection with these that
Rembrandt made four variations on a theme of English medieval
architecture.

More inexplicable is George Vertue’s remark that Rembrandt visited
Hull in 1661—2 and made a number of portraits of seafaring men. Though
there is no evidence to render this sea journey impossible, nothing we
know of the artist and his work gives a shred of confirmation to this
surprising statement. Vertue was writing nearly fifty years after the artist’s
death, and was relying on the testimony of someone who was only a boy of
nine at the time of the supposed journey.

On 26 July 1632, a notary, acting on behalf of a tontine set up in Leiden,
called at an address in the Breestraat, where he was told that Rembrandt
was living. He was made to wait in the hall while a serving-girl went to
fetch him. When Rembrandt appeared, the notary with nice legal precision
first checked that he was indeed talking to the artist, and then remarked
that he ‘found him still fresh-faced, robust and mentally alert’. He took his
leave, his mission accomplished.

Although insignificant in itself, this event establishes that Rembrandt
was living in the house of an art dealer called Hendrick van Ulenborch,
who was twenty years his senior. Rembrandt already knew him when he
was still living in Leiden. The artist had lent him the not insubstantial sum
of one thousand guilders, an indication of how much he was carning by this
time. Clearly they became friends and partners, and both professionally
and personally the dealer was to be a major influence in Rembrandt’s life.

Van Ulenborch had spent much of his youth in Poland, where his father
was cabinet-maker to the king. After a spell as a painter in Denmark he set
up as an art dealer in Amsterdam in 1627. He quickly established a thriving
international business, which included the importation of Italian pictures
and involved numerous partners as well as artists. One of his smaller
operations was to act as publisher for one of Rembrandt’s largest etchings.
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20 A Bearded Old Man, 1634

He was a Mennonite and well connected with the community, who
purchased a part share in the business. As a result Rembrandt, apart from
learning about a religion which was to have considerable relevance to his
art, was provided with a number of profitable introductions to wealthy
patrons. The art business came to a sad end after Van Ulenborch’s death,
when his son was accused of selling fakes to the Elector of Brandenburgh
and fled to England, where he was appointed ‘Purveyor and Keeper’® of
Charles II's pictures.

Van Ulenborch was also to establish, possibly with Rembrandt’s
assistance, what Baldinucci called ‘La famosa Accademia di Eulenborg’.

“
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This was a kind of art school for the children of good families who learned
to paint by copying pictures. Quite incidentally, Van Ulenborch would
sell the copies. His house must have become a centre where people
interested in art could meet. It must have been a congenial place for the
young artist from Leiden, and gave him wider contacts. In the summer of
1634 a German from Weimar, Burchard Grossmann the Younger, madc a
journey through Holland carrying his autograph album with him. He
cither knew or had an introduction to Van Ulenborch, and he visited him.
Van Ulenborch inscribed a highly appropriate motto for a successful
dealer, ‘In restraint lies strength’. Rembrandt was introduced and invited to
contribute. He wrote ‘an upright soul respects honour before wealth’, put
his signature, and then drew the head of a bearded old man with hands
clasped together on the opposite page.

But the most important person Rembrandt met in Van Ulenborch’s
house was the dealer’s young first cousin from Friesland, Saskia van
Ulenborch. She was the daughter of a former Burgomaster of
Leeuwarden, where she was born on 2 August 1612. Her father, whose
death left her an orphan at the age of twelve, was a remarkable man of
considerable means, who had studied law at Louvain and then practised asa
lawyer. He quickly came to the fore and performed various duties such as
Pensionary and Burgomaster for his native city and for Friesland. Sent on a
political mission to William the Silent in The Hague, he was invited to
dinner and had the disquicting experience of witnessing his host’s
assassination. Shortly afterwards he was a member of the delegation sent to
Elizabeth I to plead for sovereignty of the Netherlands.

When Saskia, the youngest of her family, was about ten, she was sent to
stay in Amsterdam, probably with one of her much older Van Ulenborch
cousins, cither Hendrick or more likely Aaltje, married to Jan Cornelis
Sylvius, who acted as her guardian. She must very soon have met
Rembrandt, and what happened next is most eloquently told in a drawing,
underneath which the artist wrote: “This is drawn after my wife, when she
was 21 years old, the third day after we were betrothed (i.e. exchanged
betrothal vows) — 8 June 1633’. To emphasize the preciousness of the
occasion Rembrandt has used silverpoint on prepared paper, a method
employed by the early Renaissance and later used for portrait drawings by
Goltzius and De Gheyn. Saskia holds a flower in her hand and gazes
intently at her fiancé while he sketches her. On her head she wears a large
straw hat with a band of flowers. Only the unromantic refuse to believe
that Rembrandt chose her hat for this intimate occasion, and there is
already an indication of the Flora she was to become. This exquisite and
intimate study, recalling Diirer’s ‘Mein Agnes’, must have meant more in
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22 Jan Cornelis Sylvius, 1634



plighting their troth than any formal document. This 1s truly a lover’s
drawing.

Almost exactly a year later to the very day, Rembrandt and Saskia’s
guardian appeared before the Commissioners in Amsterdam to take part in
a ceremony similar to that of calling the banns. For Rembrandt there 1s a
proviso that his mother’s consent must be obtained, and a marginal note
tells us that later she in fact appeared before the notary in Leiden and gave
her consent to the marriage of ‘the honourable Mr Rembrandt Harmensz
van Ryn’. He was the only son to whom she gave the courtesy title *“Mr’.

Saskia’s guardian, Jan Cornelis Sylvius, was a preacher who, after a
number of country posts in Friesland, where he had met his wife, had
settled in Amsterdam and officiated at the Groote Kerk. It was only
appropriate that Rembrandt should portray him, and this he did in the
same year in an etching. Sylvius sits in an ecclesiastical interior, looking
dignified, sober, and humane, with his hands resting on a Bible.

He remained a close family friend. He stood in as witness at the baptism
of the first child, and performed the ceremony for the second. Several years
after his death, Rembrandt did another etching and a painting of him.

By his marriage, Rembrandt had made a move up in the social scale.
Saskia’s family belonged to the prosperous upper class. Of her three
brothers, two were lawyers and one was an army officer. One sister was
married to a professor of theology, and another to a commissioner.

The fourth sister, Hiskje, was married to Gerrit van Loo, who was the
Town Clerk of Het Bilt, a polder in Friesland. It was probably in order that
the marriage could take place from their house that Rembrandt and Saskia
were married on 22 June in the Reformed Church of Sint-Annaparochie,
the chief town of Het Bilt. Rembrandt had joined Saskia in Friesland a few
days after the ceremony in Amsterdam. In the marriage contract Saskia was
described as living at Francker, so she probably spent her last days of
maidenhood at the house of her recently deceased sister, who had been
married to the Professor of Theology there.

They were soon back in Amsterdam, where they lived with her cousin
Hendrick van Ulenborch for the next two years. Their happiness is shown
by the number of times Saskia appears in Rembrandt’s work. His eyes
follow her everywhere. She is an unconscious modecl in a drawing showing
her asleep in bed, one hand resting on her breast, the other on the coverlet.
Rembrandt’s pillow can be seen behind her. Although their marriage
was to end tragically ecarly, all the evidence points to a harmonious
union. They were undoubtedly happy in their natural extravagance.

In the year of their marriage Rembrandt painted Saskia as Flora. Her hair
is decked with flowers and she holds a staff entwined with leaves. Her
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23 Saskia Asleep in Bed, ¢. 1635

clothes are oriental in their richness. Rembrandt used them on several
occasions and they formed part of the artist’s studio accoutrements, to be
produced for any suitable occasion. She is walking through a landscape of
rich vegetation, like a stately priestess on her way to sacrifice in some
pantheistic rite. She stops to turn and look at us, holding up her bulky cloak
before her. There could be no more enchanting goddess of Spring. In these
years pastoral poetry and painting were the fashion, followed by
Rembrandt, who found it suited his purpose in his exploration of costume
pieces, which can be interpreted as an offshoot of his current absorption in
painting ‘history pictures’. The picture clearly pleased him so much that he
produced another variation in the following year (National Gallery).
Two very different images of the artist and his wife are due more to
artistic intention than variation in life-style. In the picture, probably
painted about 1635, Saskia, wearing a heavy green dress, sits on the artist’s
knee and looks back at us over her shoulder. Her expression is decidedly
dignified and is in marked contrast to that of her husband, whose coarse
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25 Self~portrait with Saskia, ¢. 1635




26 Self-portrait with Saskia, 1636

cbullient features are wreathed in a grin. He wears a fur hat with an
enormous white feather, and holds up a glass of wine to drink the health of
the spectator and boast of his possession. He might be some bravo boasting
of a conquest from a painting by Caravaggio or one of his northern
followers. A feast, including a peacock, a symbol of pride and luxuria, is set
out on the table, and a tally board hangs on the wall behind. There is reason
to suppose that in this work Rembrandt intended a moralizing subject such
as the Prodigal Son in the tavern, in which following the convention of the
time he used identifiable models. For a more deliberate image of the artist
at home one must turn to an etching of 1636, in which the couple are
shown seated soberly at a table while he draws.

As so often in those days, the history of their children would reduce a
modern mother to despair. Of the four born to Saskia, only the last, Titus,
survived to grow up. Rumbartus, the first, was baptized in the middle of
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27 Saskia with One of her Children, ¢. 1637

December 1635; he lived for two months. He was followed by two
daughters, both called Cornelia. The first was baptized in July 1638, and
was buried three wecks later. The second was baptized in July 1640, and
lived only two weeks. Among the very many studies of the 1630s, a large
proportion are of women and children. The artist Jan van de Cappelle
possessed a portfolio of drawings by Rembrandt entitled ‘The Life of
Women’. Many show children rather than babies; they must have been
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studied from families other than his own and indicate the detached artist
looking for models. One, however, may well show Saskia with one of her
children, either Rumbartus or Cornelia I. It is drawn in black chalk in that
wonderful luent shorthand which Rembrandt developed for his studies in
these years. The mother sits up in bed nursing her baby, who lies
contentedly in her arms.

Shortly after Rumbartus’ birth, Rembrandt and Saskia left Van
Ulenborch’s house. In a letter to Huygens written in 1636, Rembrandt says:
‘I am living next door to the pensionary Boreel, Nieuw Doelenstraat.’
Willem Boreel was a lawyer attached to the East India Company and lived
beside the Kloveniersdoelen, where The Night Watch was to hang. The
street runs along the side of the Amstel away from the Munt Tower. The
houses lived in by Boreel and Rembrandt must have been brand new, since
building only began on the site in the previous year. Rembrandt’s house
was two beyond the one seen on the extreme right in an cighteenth-
century drawing of the street; the building which stands back from the
road is the Kloveniersdoclen.

28 R. VINCKELES The Doelenstraat, Amsterdam
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One of Rembrandt’s first tasks as husband was to travel to Rotterdam
and give power of attorney to Saskia’s brother-in-law, Gerrit van Loo, so
that he might collect outstanding debts to his wife and claim interest on her
money. Before his marriage Rembrandt was clearly not hard up, as both his
loan to Hendrick van Ulenborch and the numerous commissions he
received make abundantly clear. Saskia certainly brought him some
additional wealth, though it should be remembered that her father’s
estate had to be divided among cight children. Although Sandrart
specifically says that ‘he was not a spendthrift’, the evidence points to the
contrary, and Rembrandt must have spent much of what he carned.
Baldinucci describes the artist as often going ‘to sales by auction; and here
he acquired clothes that were old-fashioned and disused as long as they
struck him as bizarre and picturesque, and those, even though at times they
were downright dirty, he hung on the walls of his studio among the
beautiful curiosities which he also took pleasure in possessing, such as every
kind of old and modern arms — arrows, halberds, daggers, sabres, knives
and so on, and innumerable quantities of exquisite drawings, engravings,
and medals, and every other thing which he thought a painter might ever
need’. His name appears frequently as a buyer of works of art at auction
sales during these years. On one such occasion he acquired a painting of
Hero and Leander by Rubens. But his purchases did not pass unnoticed by
Saskia’s family. When a family row broke out over the estate of Saskia’s
parents, one member accused Saskia of spending her inheritance in ‘a
flaunting and ostentatious manner’. This charge was vigorously refuted by
Rembrandt and Saskia, who claimed that ‘they were abundantly blessed
with riches’. (Rembrandt never forgave them and years later when Titus,
aged fourteen, made a will, a clause was introduced that explicitly excluded
any relatives on his mother’s side from receiving any part of the
inheritance.) )

Rembrandt’s fame as an artist grew rapidly, and commissions for
portraits poured in from every quarter. One result of his popularity was the
number of pupils who sought to be taken on. It was during these years that
Ferdinand Bol, Jacob Backer, Govaert Flinck and Gerbrand van den
Eeckhout, his favourite, who, according to Houbraken, became one of his
closest friends, all worked in his studio. They were later to capture their
master’s popularity with fashionable clientele. Houbraken says that in
order to accommodate all his pupils, Rembrandt took a warchouse on the
Bloemgracht, where he partitioned the room so that each pupil could work
by himself. It was there that one pupil and a model were supposed to have
undressed. They had no sooner proclaimed their similarity to Adam and
Eve than the master, whose attention had been drawn by the curiosity of
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the other pupils, drove them from the house with the words ‘but because
vou are naked you must get out of Paradise’.

It is apparent that his pupils, apart from working on their own, were
employed on making copies of their master’s pictures. From 1637 onwards
there are numerous references in inventories and sales of such copies in
collections or on the market. One collection belonging to a painter and an
art dealer associated with Van Ulenborch contained one original and no
less than six copies after Rembrandt, clearly listed as such. Given the
perennial concern for establishing the extent of Rembrandt’s oeuvre, itisa
fact that should be borne in mind.

The Anatomy Lesson of Professor Tulp was undoubtedly a success. Tulp
himself may well have recommended Rembrandt’s services to his many
influential friends and he was fast becoming the fashionable portrait painter
of Amsterdam. How far Rembrandt was on social terms with his sitters is
another matter, and one on which there is almost no evidence. In his
present euphoric mood it is difficult to believe he would have rejected any
overtures, and his marriage to Saskia certainly gave him the entrée to a
number of houses.

Among the more fashionable sitters were Marten Soolmans and his wife
Oepjen Coppit, who were painted in 1634. Soolmans was the son of a
refugee from Antwerp, who studied for a few years without much success
in Leiden. But in 1633 he married Ocepjen Coppit, who was a member of
one of Amsterdam’s most distinguished families. From then until his death
in 1641 his comfort was assured. They lived close by Rembrandt.

The artist portrays them full length on separate canvases though he
contrived them as a pair. Soolmans holds out his hand with his glove
loosely held by the fingers in a somewhat casual gesture towards his wife.
The stately figure of Oepjen Coppit moves towards her husband, though
she turns to give us a penetrating if reserved glance. They are depicted
against a grand but simple setting. It is the kind of portrait that Frans Hals
was doing so well, but here Rembrandt has introduced a touch of
Vandyckian hautenr. He has allowed himself to be carried away in painting
the rich clothes, rosettes on the shoes, belts, lace collars and cuffs. But,
unlike the Flemish master who made the clothes the servants of the sitter,
Rembrandt’s faces are a little dull and smooth in comparison to the richness
of the accessories. In such works we see Rembrandt adapting a style of
portraiture in character more with a court than a republican community,
although this may well have expressed the aspirations of some of the
patrician members of Amsterdam society.

A more original solution posed by the problem of the double portrait
had been completed in the previous year in The Shipbuilder and his Wife (Jan

45



Rijcksen and Griet Jans), in which the husband is represented at work
surrounded by the appropriate tools of his profession, either designing a
ship, or, it has been suggested, working on an illustrated treatise on
shipbuilding. Dividers in hand he looks round as he is interrupted by his
wife bursting in to his cosy study with a letter for him, suitably bearing his
name and address. The missive is made both the formal and psychological
focus of the composition. The split-second timing of this domestic event is
emphasized in the way that the wife keeps hold of the door handle. And as
if reflecting the different nature of the commission —a master shipbuilder
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30 THomAs DE Kevyser Constantijn Huygens
with his Clerk(?), 1627

29 The Shipbuilder and his Wife, 1633

was not the social equal of a wealthy burger — Rembrandt has executed the
heads and hands in more open brushwork, which can be studied as it creates
form and colour, stroke upon stroke, vividly suggesting the living tissues
beneath the outer skin.

As a means of creating a focus in a double portrait, the letter motif had
already been used, for example, by Thomas de Keyser six years earlier in his
portrait of Constantijn Huygens with his Clerk (?), but without the sense of
urgency and concentration through which Rembrandt transformed a
portrait into a genre scene. This picture represents one of the first occasions
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31 Marten Soolmans, 1634

when the artist sccking a more informative portrait represents the sitter in
action in his daily professional life. It was a method which Rembrandt was
to turn to notably good account in a number of his portrait etchings.
Rembrandt was especially at home among the professional classes,
particularly the Church and Medicine, which throughout his life provided
him with commissions. In 163 5 he made an etched portrait of the Arminian
Remonstrant preacher Jan Uytenbogaert, then an old man of necarly
eighty, but who 1 his tme had been very influential. He had been called to
The Hague by Prince Maurice and Oldenbarnevelt and was tutor to Prince
Frederick Henry. He was chief spokesman of his sect in their struggle with
the Calvinists and was exiled for his pains. After a few years in Paris he
tinally rcturned to Holland in 1626 but never recaptured his former
influential position. He became preacher at the Remonstrant Church and it
15 as such, surrounded by his books in an atmosphere of scholarly calm, that
Rembrande portrayed him. A poem by Hugo Grotius inscribed below may
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32 Ocpjen Coppit, 1634

possibly indicate that Rembrandt was acquainted with the distinguished
statesman, jurist and author.

One of Rembrandt’s friends who belonged to quite another religion was
the Portuguese Jewish author, Menassch ben Israel. He lived in the
Breestraat, which Rembrandt had temporarily left, and was Rabbi at the
synagogue just round the corner from Van Ulenborch’s house. He was one
of the most distinguished of the Jewish community, who taught Spinoza
and was the first Hebraic printer in Holland. The etched portrait
Rembrandt made of him in 1636 was far less elaborately worked up than
that of Uytenbogaert and this may reflect a more informal commission.

Throughout his life he remained a friend of the artist. Before his
departure for England on a mission to Cromwell to plead for the recall of
the Jews, from which he never returned alive, he published a book entitled
The Ilustrious Stone, or the Statue of Nebuchadnezzar. . . . The book is a
mystical work based on the author’s view of the Second Advent. He
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35 Cornelis Claesz. Anslo, 1640

commissioned his old friend to make four illustrations, one showing the
image seen by Nebuchadnezzar in a dream, which had a head of gold and
feet of clay and was destroyed by a stone. Although the combination of
etching and drypoint used for this work was unsuited for mass
reproduction in a book, the patron was clearly satisfied with the result,
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36 Herman Doomer, 1640




since the copy presented to the dedicatee, Isaac Vossius, is one of the few to
contain Rembrandt’s illustrations.

Cornelis Claesz. Anslo, a Mennonite preacher and theological scholar,
also active as a cloth-merchant, was another sitter who was probably also a
friend. He belonged to the more liberal group of his community, the so-
called Waterlanders, and took a leading part in the acrimonious discussions
between the various Baptist sects. In 1641 Rembrandt ctched his portrait
and painted a double portrait of the preacher and his wife in which
concerted action, seen in the Shipbuilder and his Wife, presented a unified
image. In the preparatory drawing for the painting he is shown seated in a
chair, a massive imposing figure, in the act of expounding some belief, with
his literary authority, the Bible, at his side.

Calvinist intolerance of other religions, particularly the Remonstrants,
had greatly increased after the Synod of Dort in 1618, but by the time
Rembrandt was living in Amsterdam other beliefs were practised,
although not always free from attacks of religious bigotry, made morc
complicated by the entanglement of religion with politics. Rembrandt, a
true liberal, limited his circle to no one sect, as these portraits of sitters of
different religions make clear. His liberality was not, however, the result of
indifference. In his own unorthodox way he was a deeply religious man,
but it is doubtful whether he followed any one religion. His attitude can be
most closely matched by that of the Mennonites, whose creed is based on
the original and literal content of the Bible and excludes all dogmas based
on subsequent events. (Baldinucci in fact goes so far as to call him a
Mennonite.) Their preference for ‘the poor in spirit’ to ‘the worldly wise
and learned” might be Rembrandt’s own motto, and the emphasis on
inward reaction rather than outward manifestation could stand as his
artistic credo of later years.

Rembrandt’s sitters were drawn from all ranks of society. From the
artisan class were Herman Doomer and his wife, painted on commission in
1640. Doomer, a countryman from across the German border, had
established himself in Amsterdam as an ebony worker and a furniture and
frame maker, and may have acted in the last capacity for Rembrandt. Their
honest simplicity could not be more eloquently expressed in their portraits.
The husband wears a simple jacket with an unostentatious lace collar. His
hat is tipped back a little on his head and he almost blinks at us as if our gaze
was like a light that shines too strongly. His wife, with firmly clasped
hands, is equally unostentatious. They had six children, one of whom,
Lambert, was probably a pupil in the master’s studio at the very time he
was painting the parents. The portraits were greatly prized possessions.
When the wife died, a widow, she left them to Lambert, on the sole
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condition that he have them copied for each of his brothers and sisters.

Considered as studies of human physiognomy rather than records of
social standing, Rembrandt’s portraits reveal a fundamental change
between his earliest examples done at the beginning of the decade and a
work such as Herman Doomer. The outward rendering of the appearance
skilfully if superficially realized in Marten Soolmans was abandoned in
favour of an inner portrayal which was increasingly to determine
Rembrandt’s treatment of the face, whether in a portrait or in an imaginary
subject. That he was able to do this was largely due to his brilliant mastery
of chiaroscuro and application of paint. The pattern of shadows was broken
up so that instead of the simple contrast between one half of the face in light
and the other in shadow, light and shadow alternate in numerous small
areas of varying intensity over the entire face. Above all, the most subtle
gradations of shadow arc applied to the arca around the eyes, which in the
later portraits immediately capture the attention, and lead the spectator on
with the sensation that through the eyes can be read the mind of the person
represented. Rembrandt’s sitters tend to become increasingly introspective
and withdrawn, and indulge in the minimum of movement and
expression. Everything is concentrated on the gaze rather than the surface
description of the face, which is now suggested by the handling of the
brush, ranging from almost tangible impasto to the most translucent
glazes, expressed in a combination of sympathetic rather than contrasting
colours. No longer does the brush follow outline and form in its
movements, but freely creates a soft blurred image of the person enveloped
in the atmosphere of the setting. To acquire a harmonizing element, the
previously plain backgrounds become interesting in themselves and are
constantly varied in shape, colour and above all chiaroscuro. The entire
surface of the picture is skilfully devised as a background to the portrayal of
a thinking human being.

The sitters described so far may have been friends as well as patrons. But
the one person above all during the 16305 who claims the role of chief
benefactor — if not exactly a patron, then as éminence grise — is Constantijn
Huygens. His interest in Rembrandt when he visited him in Leiden was no
passing phase. It can hardly have been chance that in 1632 Rembrandt was
asked to paint a pair of small panel portraits, donc in a miniature-like
technique, of Constantijn’s elder brother, Maurits, Secretary to the
Council of State in The Hague, and of a close family friend, Jacob de
Gheyn 11, the artist, who later became a Canon of St Mary’s at Utrecht.

Undoubtedly, Huygens’ most direct influence was on Frederick Henry
of Nassau, Prince of Orange, Stadholder of Holland. He was born in Delft
in 1584 and had been tutored by the Arminian Minister, Jan Uytenbogaert,
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37 P. PoNTIUS Frederick Henry,
Prince of Orange (detail), 1628

whom Rembrandt portrayed in an etching many years after this event.
Court taste was strongly orientated in favour of Flemish art, particularly
Rubens and Van Dyck, and it is hardly suprising that Frederick Henry had
himself painted by Van Dyck, a picture which was made widely known
through the engraving. In contrast to the rather thin introspective young
man who appeared in an earlier portrait, Van Dyck has given him the
proportions and self-confidence of a ruler.

In 1632, in what was probably Rembrandt’s first commission from the
Stadholder, he painted the latter’s wife, Amalia van Solms, bust length, half
i profile in a painted oval decorative frame as a pendant to a similar
portrait of her husband executed in the previous year by the fashionable
international artist Gerrit van Honthorst. It must have been seen as a
compliment that the young Rembrandt should have been paired with the
latter, who had acquired fame and standing by his work for Charles I.
Moreover, it gave Rembrandt the opportunity of a sitter in a different class
from his Amsterdam clientele. Compared with the superficial glazed
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image of husband dressed in armour, presented in profile, Amalia van
Solms appears less idealized and more in the sober manner of Rembrandt’s
bourgeois portraiture. That the two pictures did not hang together has
been interpreted as a sign of dissatisfaction with Rembrandt’s production,
and it is a fact that he was never commissioned to paint another portrait by
the Stadholder.

Whatever his views about portraiture, Frederick Henry, in spite of the
Flemish bias to his taste, clearly felt drawn to the art of Rembrandt. The
year the Prince succeeded his father Rembrandt began his career in Leiden.
The incidents connected with the acquisition of two paintings by
Rembrandt which the Earl of Ancrum took to England have already been
mentioned. So has the painting Simeon in the Temple holding the Infant Christ
in his Arms by Rembrandt or Jan Lievens, described in the 1632 inventory
of the Prince’s possessions. The work in question is possibly one of two
paintings of this subject by Rembrandt, with the odds marginally in favour
of the version of 1631. (One if not two carly representations of the subject
by Lievens might equally well qualify.)

Rembrandt’s major work for the Stadholder was five paintings of
subjects taken from the Passion, a commission which through his habitual
reluctance to finish occupied the artist throughout the 1630s. (It is possible
that an carlier painting of the Crucifixion of 1631, now in a small country
church in France, may have had some connection with the series, if no
more than to demonstrate to the court of what the artist was capable in the
field of religious painting.) During this time Frederick Henry was engaged
in decorating his various residences, and Rembrandt’s paintings were
probably intended to adorn the Noordeinde Palace in the Old Court in
The Hague. It was in connection with this work that the artist wrote seven
letters to Huygens, asking for his help and his intercession. This
correspondence makes one suspect that Huygens not only supervised the
work but was also directly responsible for getting Rembrandt the
commission. If he was, it would not have been the first time that he
recommended an artist to his master. In any case he took an intense interest
in how matters progressed, and insisted that all Rembrandt’s paintings be
first sent to his house for him to inspect, before he passed them on to the
Prince himself.

The Descent from the Cross1s one of the two pictures finished in 1633. It is
Rembrandt’s tribute to Rubens. This fact cannot have been lost on the
Stadholder, and may well have affected his decision to ask Rembrandt to
carry out the remaining paintings for him. (Only six years before, the
Flemish artist had visited Holland, though there is no reason to believe that
he ever met Rembrandt.) The composition of Rembrandt’s picture echoes
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Rubens’ famous painting in Antwerp Cathedral, which Rembrandt would
have known through Vorsterman’s engraving. On this occasion
Rembrandt followed the Flemish practice of reproducing the picture in a
print fully protected by a privilege granted by the States General, and
published by his host at that time, Hendrick van Ulenborch.

Rembrandt writes to Huygens, probably in February 1636, that ‘T am
very diligently engaged in completing as quickly as possible the three
Passion pictures which His Excellency himself commissioned me to do . . .
one has been completed, namely Christ ascending to heaven, and the other
two are more than half done.” A few wecks later Rembrandt writes again to
say that he is sending the finished Ascension, and that ‘I shall follow anon
[i.e. to The Hague] to see how the picture accords with the rest. . . . Tt will
show to the best advantage in the Gallery of His Excellency since there is a
strong light there.’
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There is silence for three years, but this does not necessarily mean that
there was no contact between the two men. In February 1638 a tournament
and other festivities were organized by Huygens in The Hague to celebrate
the marriage of the sister of Amalia van Solms, Princess of Orange.
Rembrandt may have been present — an mvitation would have been no
more than his due — and the group of drawings of Negro bands and
mummers on horseback could date from this occasion.

At last on 12 January 1639 the artist could write to Huygens that ‘because
of the great zeal and devotion which I exercised in executing well the two
pictures which His Highness commissioned me to make | The Entombment
and The Resurrection] . . . these same two pictures have now been finished
through serious application.” He asks ‘whether it would please my lord that
the two pictures should first be delivered at your house as was done on the
previous occasion. . . . And as my lord has been troubled in these matters
for the second time, a picce 1o feet long and 8 feet high shall also be added as
a token of appreciation, which will be worthy of my lord’s house.’

For reasons unexplained, Huygens did not wish to accept the gift, but
Rembrandt was adamant. ‘I cordially remain obliged to you to repay your
lordship with service and friendship. Because I wish to do this, [ am sending
this accompanying canvas, against my lord’s wishes, hoping that you will
not take me amiss in this as it is the first token which I ofter my lord.” He
adds a postscript: ‘My lord hang the piece in a strong light and so that one
can stand at a distance from it, then it will show at its best.” The gift is
probably the painting of The Blinding of Samson, which was finished in
1636. In the very first letter written in that year, Rembrandt had said that ‘I
cannot refrain, as a token of my humble favour, from presenting my lord
with something of my latest work, trusting that this will be accepted as
favourably as possible.” Perhaps Rembrandt always had it in mind to
present this picture to Huygens. It certainly matched the violence of
expression of Rubens’ head of Medusa which already hung in Huygens’
house and was his favourite picture.

But no sooner were Frederick Henry’s pictures finished than trouble
arose over the price to be paid and the actual payment of the money. For
the first two paintings Rembrandt received 1,200 guilders. But six years
later he fele chat the two last pictures ‘will be considered of such quality that
His Highness will now even pay me not less than a thousand guilders cach.
But should His Highness consider they are not worth this, he shall pay me
less according to his own pleasure.” This request met with silence. In the
meantime, Rembrandt had bought a house and the first payment was due
on the day that he took possession. Time was drawing near, so he wrote
again at the end of January: ‘I would request you, my lord, that, whatever
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41 The Resurrection, 1639




His Highness grants me for the two pieces, I may receive this money here as
soon as possible, which would at the moment be particularly convenient to
me.” One senses the perennial predicament of the artist, desperately in need
of payment yet fearful of giving offence.

It was then that an admirer of Rembrandt’s stepped in and tried to help.
‘The tax collector, Uytenbogaert, paid me a visit when I was busy packing
these two pieces. He wished to have a look at them first. He said that if it
pleased His Highness he was prepared to make the payments from his office
here [i.e. Amsterdam]|.” This Uytenbogaert was also called Jan, and was a
distant relation of the Arminian preacher who had been Frederick Henry’s
tutor, portrayed by Rembrandt. He was the Receiver-General of state
funds in Amsterdam and therefore in a position to help. He took up the
matter of the delay in payment with Frederick Henry’s Treasurer, and it
may well have been in gratitude for his help that Rembrandt etched his
portrait in this year. It is not in fact a straightforward portrait but has more
of the character of an allegorical genre scene. The sitter is shown in
sixteenth-century costume reminiscent of ecarlier representations of tax-
collectors, and the print has for long been known as The Goldweigher. (He
remained friendly with the artist; over ten years later his country house,
which was situated outside Amsterdam, appears in the background of a
landscape ctching by Rembrandt.)

Rembrandt’s price was ruthlessly cut down. ‘If His Highness cannot in
all decency be moved to a higher price, though they are obviously worth it,
I shall be satisfied with 600 Carolus guilders each, provided that I am also
credited for my outlay on the two ebony frames and the crate, which is 44
guilders in all. So I would kindly request of my lord that I may now receive
my payments here in Amsterdam as soon as possible.” A little later to
Huygens again: ‘It is with hesitation that [ come to trouble you with my
letter . . . I pray you, my kind lord, that my warrant might now be
prepared at once, so that I may now at least receive my well-carned 1,244
guilders.” Rembrandt need not have worried, for on 17 February Huygens
had authorized the Treasurer to pay out the exact sum.

Rembrandt ends his last letter with the words “With this I cordially
take leave of my lord, and express that God may long [keep] your lord-
ship in good health and bless you (Amen). Your lordship’s humble and
affectionate servant Rembrandt.” Throughout the correspondence the tone
is respectful and formal. The artist never expands as one friend might to
another. His farewell to Huygens was, so far as Rembrandt was concerned,
only intended to mark the end of this particular affair, but for us with the
advantage of hindsight it has a touching finality since so far as we know this
letter is the last communication between the two men. In the next decade,
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42 Jan Uytenbogaert, the Receiver-General, 1639

Rembrandt was asked to do two more paintings for Frederick Henry, but
Huygens never intervened. A few years later, after the Stadholder’s death,
his widow made Huygens responsible for selecting artists to decorate the
Oranjesaal in “The House in the Woods outside The Hague. Rembrandt
was never considered, though Lievens amongst others was invited to
contribute. Nevertheless Rembrandt’s name was not entirely forgotten in
the Huygens houschold, and in 1645 his son Christian, then sixteen,
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claimed with pride that he had copied the head of an old man by
Rembrandt that ‘can hardly be distinguished from the original’.

In spite of his taste for Flemish painting, it is disappointing that the onc
person to notice and understand Rembrandt’s art and to forecast his
greatness when the artist was only a young man of twenty-three should not
so much turn against the artist as completely ignore him for the last thirty
years of his life. Perhaps the more contemplative mood of The Entombment,
heralding his new style, left Huygens unmoved. To us Huygens seems to
have been a man whose genuine artistic sensibility and intuition were
limited by the conventional taste of the time. But possibly the most curious
aspect of their relationship is that the only picture by Rembrandt which we
know Huygens possessed was pressed on him against his will.

The work produced for Frederick Henry and the gift to Huygens
demonstrate the course of Rembrandt’s art during the 1630s. Whereas
Lastman appears as the main source of influence during the Leiden years,
Rembrandt, without entirely forgetting his former master, seems to have
turned much more to the example of Rubens after his move. Apart from
the political wisdom of doing so, the Flemish master provided ispiration
for a grander, more dramatic style which Rembrandt sought in the carly
Amsterdam years. Rubens’ Tribute Money may, as has been suggested, have
oftered some hint for the composition of The Anatomy Lesson of Professor
Tulp, and certainly he could give a lesson or two in the problems of
foreshortening a figure. A more tangible link, already remarked, occurs in
The Descent from the Cross in the following year, and in a more general way
Rubens’ ocuvre would have demonstrated the impact produced by a series
of religious pictures and may indeed have prompted the idea of such a
commission in the first place. But perhaps more important than any
specific connections was Rubens’ general example. There scems little doubt
that Rembrandt studied both the latter’s art and practice, although not
surprisingly the end result tells us more about him.

In executing such works as The Anatomy Lesson of Professor Tulp and The
Descent from the Cross, Rembrandt could have found a precedent for the
smooth brushwork and plastic modelling, as well as the vivid, clearly
identifiable expressions which were so much an essential ingredient in
Rubens’ religious painting. But where Rembrandt moved away from the
latter was over the matter of realistic representation. Rubens belicved in
containing his artistic vocabulary within the classical convention. In the
two versions of The Descent from the Cross, Rubens’ Christ is a muscular,
well-proportioned figure in the Italian tradition, whereas Rembrandt
presents a sagging mass of inert flesh picked out from the penumbra by a
strong light from above. In place of timeless balance, we become aware of
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43 The Blinding of Samson, 1636

the suddenness of the moment. As with realism so with chiaroscuro;
Rembrandt was prepared to go to extremes at this stage of his career.

The apogee of Rembrandt’s Baroque style was reached in The Blinding of
Samson, in which the climax of the highly disagreeable story is presented on
life-size scale and with an unprecedented degree of realism. The artist’s
imagination operates on a theatrical level. The vast canvasisa maclstrom of
violent contrasts — of movement, diagonal against diagonal, of chiaroscuro,
contre-jour beside highlight, of colour, bright red juxtaposed with yellow,
and of expression, searing physical pain alternating with refulgent
triumph. The thickly loaded brush powerfully conveys the sumptuous
effects of costume, shining armour, chains and various military
accoutrements. Such intentional excess left little scope for further
development.

This picture was one of three painted on the theme of Samson at this
period and in its choice of subject matter reveals a characteristically
Baroque preoccupation with an Old Testament hero whose life was so



44 ANON. The Last Supper, after Leonardo da Vinci, 16th century

45 The Last Supper, after Leonardo da Vinci, c. 1635
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46 Samson’s Wedding Feast, 1638

redolent with high drama and sensuality. (Concurrently when treating the
life of Christ, Rembrandt opted for elaborate crowd-scenes, such as The
Preaching of St John the Baptist, in which display rather than quiet mystery
provided the donnée.) Returning to the theme of Samson in 1638,
Rembrandt maintained the sense of drama in Samson’s Wedding Feast, here
enhanced by richness of colour, although he introduced more variety and
subtlety into his composition. The manner in which Delilah, seated before
a hanging carpet, presides over her guests deployed on either side of her in a
variety of postures, a placid unperturbed figure floating above a sea of
animation, recalls the free copies Rembrandt made after an engraving of
Leonardo’s Last Supper. Although more complex in its counterpoint of
movement, and very different in detail, Samson’s Wedding Feast is
unequivocally recognizable as a Baroque heir to a major monument of the
High Renaissance.

But Rembrandt was equally concerned with content, and a few years
after it was painted, Samson’s Wedding Feast was referred to in a speech
delivered in Leiden as an excellent example of a work by an artist who from
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knowledge and attention had produced an accurate re-creation of the
story, full of historical detail. “The Ancients used little beds to lie on, and
they did not sit at Table as we do now, but reclined on their elbows.’
Samson, immediately recognizable in his unshorn state, ‘is busy
propounding his Riddle . . . [with] a common but very natural gesture’.
And the speaker concluded his oration: ‘He made a distinction so that we
could well distinguish it from our own wedding feasts. Behold this fruit of
his own natural expression derived from history well read and understood
by high and far [reaching] reflection.’

In the course of his correspondence with Huygens, Rembrandt wrote at
the beginning of 1639 that he was at last proposing to deliver The
Entombment and The Resurrection, in which ‘the greatest and most natural
movement (or most innate emotion) has been expressed’. Whether the
artist meant ‘movement’ or ‘emotion’ remains a subject of philological
debate, although in this instance both meanings are relevant, since the first
is appropriate to the frenzy of light and action in The Resurrection whereas
the second would fit the intensity of feeling which can be read in the
expressions and actions of those surrounding the figure of the dead Christ.
In their different ways the two pictures follow the Baroque convention
established at the beginning of the series. But as he was finishing them, he
must have been aware that his art was moving in a different direction, and
at least in much of their execution they point to the future.

The same characteristics can be perceived in his drawings and etchings of
the period. After moving to Amsterdam, Rembrandt soon developed
drawing as a means of expression in its own right and produced a series of
Biblical subjects which are concerned more with the interpretation of the
subject than as an exercise in style. This preoccupation with content could
very well be expressed in a medium in which economy of line could be an
essential feature. In the drawing of Calvary he forcefully conveys emotion
through the character of the pen lines supported by the addition of wash.
The dead Christ on the cross, a catalyst in the scene around Him, is
relatively neatly drawn and modelled. His calm acceptance of fate is
thrown into relief by the intensely distraught reactions of His immediate
companions, whose figures are suggested more than defined by what
appears as a frenzy of lines heightencd by bold strokes of wash. Through
the direction of his pen lines enhanced by a lively pattern of shadow,
Rembrandt creates a fecling of circular movement in the crowd beneath
the figurc on the cross rising above in solitary state.

On alarge scale etching proved, to begin with, a less individual medium.
But on a small scale he could work in much the same way as in a drawing,
and during these years he developed a style which paralleled rather than
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some technical failure in the biting to abandon the first plate and start all
over again.) In The Annunciation to the Shepherds the style is still painterly in
the highly wrought nocturnal landscape seen by moonlight above which
the heavens literally open in a blaze of light to reveal the Angel as well as a
host of younger angels. But whereas the prevailing dark areas stretch the
technical possibilities to the utmost, more intrinsically etched work
describes the shepherds and their animals instilled with terror.

In The Death of the Virgin of 1639, Rembrandt succeeded by employing a
looser more varied stroke to combine the miraculous appearance of the
angels above, the formal ritual of a Christian death and the very human
event of a dying person surrounded by sorrowing companions. His new
command of technique enabled him to join spiritual and earthly in a
Baroque extravagance tempered by a new intimacy of feeling.

Although Rembrandt, in whichever medium he was working, gave a
dramatic overlay of chiaroscuro and action to his finished works of the
1630s, his art was founded on an accurate observation of the world around
him. St John the Baptist preaching, a grisaille painted in the middle of the

50 The Preaching of St Johu the Baptist (detail), ¢. 1636




st Woman with a Child frightened by a Dog, ¢. 1635

decade possibly in preparation for an etching, possesses with its profusion
of incident the character of other pictures of the time. But if the veil of
richly varied shadow is removed, a remarkable range of studies of the
impoverished, sick, old and very young will be revealed. It is no
coincidence that during this decade Rembrandt was most active as an
observer of everyday life. Although there are a number of etchings, he
mostly used drawing for this study, largely using the quill pen with its
varied repertory of loops and curves. Such studies done without ulterior
purpose provided him with a basic artistic vocabulary which could be
adapted to the work in hand. Numerous studies of women and children,
such as that of a mother, basket over her arm, who reassures her child
tearful at the approach of a friendly dog, provided him with the kind of
knowledge necessary for the vignettes of domestic life which occur in the
grisaille.

The artist’s observation of the daily scene had already begun in Leiden,
and there are a number of drawings and etchings of beggars, those nomadic
victims of the political upheavals throughout the Continent. In one etching
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53 Jew praying, ¢. 1634

52 Beggar warming his Hands, ¢. 1630
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55 The Pancake TWoman, 1635

an elderly beggar, his worldly possessions in a basket, sits warming his
hands over a chafing dish. Although inspired by Callot both in subject and
technique, Rembrandt’s treatment avoids the political overtones of the
French artist and concentrates on representing them as human beings,
albeit as the more unhappy members of the rich fabric of seventeenth-
century society. In Amsterdam his acute observation grew in response to
the varied scene to be found in such a cosmopolitan city. He developed a
particular interest in the Jews, those authentic descendants of the Old
Testament. Whereas he received commissions from the more prosperous
Sephardim the impoverished Ashkenazim provided endless models of
grizzled old age and wisdom gained from a silent acceptance of fate. In one
small but penetrating study a youngish Jew kneels devoutly with hands
clasped in prayer — his earnest submissive expression caught with a few
rapid lines of the quill pen.
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56 A Negro Connander and
Kettle-Drununer on Horseback,
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57 Llephant, ¢. 1637
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s8 A Scene from Voundel's “Gijsbrecht van Amstel’
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59 Swimmers, 1651

Rembrandt’s graphic works of these years indicate that the artist was
constantly on the lookout for all manner of daily occurrence as he
wandered through the streets. In one study he observes two butchers at
work; one squatting on his haunches cleaving a carcass, while the other,
knife held in his mouth, struggles to move another carcass. The etching of
The Pancake Woman captures the essence of a scene to be discovered at
many a street corner — the concentration of the chef surrounded by her
hungry admiring audience, while at her feet a child saves its pancake from
an importunate dog. Performances by travelling circuses were a regular
occurrence in Amsterdam and they probably provided the models for the
small group of animal studies, such as the drawing of an elephant, with its
masterly use of black chalk to describe the wrinkled skin. The procession in
The Hague in 1638, already mentioned, prompted, it would seem, the
studies of exotic mounted musicians, such as the Negro Commander and
Kettle-Drummer on Horseback, executed in an unusually rich mixture of pen,
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60 A Woman on the
Gallows, 1664 . s

chalk and colour. The same year witnessed the inauguration of Jacob van
Campen’s splendid new theatre built in the classical style, which replaced
the old wooden building used by the Dutch Academy. Given the character
of Rembrandt’s art at this time, he probably found much to stir his
imagination in the theatre. One may suppose that the mise-en-scene of some
of his more claborate compositions of this time reflects the theatrical
spectacle at least in the community of interest if not actual derivation. In
addition there are a number of drawings, which can be identified as studies
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of actors, such as the pen and wash portrayal of a bishop who may represent
the central character in Vondel's play Gijsbrecht van Amstel, which opened
the new theatre.

In later years Rembrandt devoted less time to the outdoor scene. Apart
from his new preoccupations, his portfolios of drawings, representing his
working capital, already contained an encyclopaedia of everyday life. But
his interest did not entirely disappear, and every now and then a particular
incident caught his attention. In one of his most atmospheric etchings, three
naked young men take a dip in the river bordered by trees. And five years
betore Rembrandt’s death, a Danish girl was condemned to the gallows for
murder, and he made two drawings of her, one from the front and one
from the side, as she hung limp with her axe beside her.

For all its apparent fidelity to nature, Dutch art contained a moralizing
side, replete with allegory and emblem. For the most part Rembrandt was

61 Death appearing to a
Wedded Couple, 1639




62 The Unity of the Country, 1641

not in sympathy with such an approach. With his habitual width of interest
he has left several works which clearly bear more meaning than is apparent
at first glance, but in several cases their meaning eludes us today. Some
form of personal allegory seems to have been intended in the small etching
of Death appearing to a Wedded Couple. Political allegory was clearly the
basis of the grisaille known from the artist’s inventory as The Unity of the
Country (more usually translated as The Concord of State). Apart from
references to religion, justice, political order and military power, the
founding principles of the Republic, the picture is centred around the
figure of the recumbent lion, a symbol of the Netherlands, placed before
coats of arms of the three main cities of the state of Holland — Amsterdam,
Leiden and Haarlem. The five of the Seven United Provinces governed by
Frederick Henry are alluded to by the five arrows beneath the lion’s paw.
The picture, whose purpose remains unknown, can be interpreted as an
allegory of the current political struggle between the State of Holland and
the Stadholder over the latter’s costly military campaigns.
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CHAPTER THREE

A change of direction

In 1639, the year that Rembrandt took his lcave of Huygens, an important
artistic event took place in Amsterdam, when ‘the whole cargo’, as
Rembrandt called it, of Lucas van Uffelen came up for auction. The seller,
who had originally come from Antwerp, had spent a number of years in
Venice, active as a banker, shipper and collector of works of art before he
settled in Holland. Rembrandt attended the sale and even though he did not
buy anything consoled himself by making a free copy of one of the
pictures, either at the time or, more likely in view of the variations, from
memory in the studio after the sale. Beside his sketch he wrote: “The Count
Balthasar Castiglione by Raphacl, sold for 3,500 guilders’. The successtul
bidder was Alphonso Lopcz. The underbidder was none other than
Joachim von Sandrart, the German painter and writer on art.

Alphonso Lopez was a rich Spanish Jew who lived in a large house on the
Singel in Amsterdam. He was a diamond dealer as well as a collector, art
dealer, and working as agent for Richelieu on behalf of the French crown,
for whom he bought anything from ammunition to works of art. Lopez
already owned Titian’s so-called Portrait of Ariosto, as well as Rembrandt’s
Balaam and the Ass painted as long before as 1626. We do not know when he
bought it from the artist but in 1641 the French artist Claude Vignon wrote
to a French print publisher and art dealer: ‘In Amsterdam also give my
regards to Mynheer Rembrandt and bring back something of his. Tell him
simply that yesterday I appraised his painting of the prophet Balaam which
Monsieur Lopez bought from him.’

Lopez and Rembrandt must have known one another, since Lopez’s
Titian made a profound cffect on Rembrandt at this time. In the self-
portrait etching of 1639 and in the repetition, with a few alterations, on
canvas the following year, Rembrandt has depicted himself in a similar
pose with the arm resting on a ledge, while the arrangement and treatment
of his sleeve show an obvious debt to the Venetian picture. At the same
time Rembrandt transformed his version into his own idiom by
introducing a more varied pattern of chiaroscuro especially in the
background, as well as employing a different and much more restricted
colour scheme. He also included such Baroque touches as the arrangement
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63 Copy after Raphacl’s ‘Portrait of Baldassare Castiglione’, 1639

of the sleeve so that it falls over the parapet into the spectator’s world. The
conscious allusion to Titian’s portrait, which must have been as obvious to
people in Amsterdam at the time as Brahms’ echo of Beethoven in his first
symphony two centuries later, may signify more than an adaptation of the
outward form of a major High Renaissance work. At the period the Titian
was thought to represent the distinguished Ferrarese poet Ludovico
Ariosto and it has been proposed that not only was Rembrandt consciously
rivalling the achievement of a famous painter of the past, but in associating
himself with Ariosto he was proclaiming a parity between the art of
painting and literature. The battle for the status and dignity of the artist was
still not entirely won, and some of the tradition of the artist as craftsman
lingered on in the rules and practices of the guilds of St Luke.

In this self-portrait Rembrandt presents himself as a serious almost
solemn figure with a far more dignified and flattering image than is to be
seen in the portrait by his pupil, Govaert Flinck, painted in the previous



64 GOVAERT FLINCK Portrait of Rembrandt (detail), 1639

year. It possesses more than a touch of elegance and hauteur, and the
piercing gaze implies equality with whomever the spectator might be.
Flinck portrayed the artist, whereas Rembrandt depicts the gentleman. But
his position was now established and he had become a much-praised artist,
both by his fellow-countrymen and foreigners. An English visitor to
Amsterdam in 1640, who had no pretensions to knowledge of art, writes of
the flourishing state of painting in Holland, but mentions only one artist by
name and that is Rembrandt. Though a grave expression was becoming to
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the fashionable painter of the day, it signified something far deeper in
Rembrandt’s case. A profound metamorphosis was taking place in his art.
He was slowly turning away from all that his painting stood for in the
1630s to a new more personal style. It took a number of years to achieve,
but already the alchemy of searching self-analysis was taking effect. As he
followed his own vision unheedingly, as any artist of integrity or greatness
must do, so he deliberately moved out of the orbit of fashionable taste and
merited its indifference, a reaction which one suspects was much
encouraged by his growing intransigence and unwillingness to please.

The more thoughtful mood could also be the effect of family
responsibilities. By the time he wrote his first letter to Huygens in 1636 he
and Saskia had left her cousin’s house in the Breestraat and were living in
the Nieuwe Doclenstraat. By the end of the following year they had
moved again to the island of Vlooienburgh; Rembrandt wrote to Huygens
that ‘I live on the Binnen Amstel. The house 1s called the sugar refinery.” At
that time this building offered spectacular views of the river and the quays,
with a vista of the countryside beyond the Blauwbrug (a view seen in a
later drawing, p. 107). But once again it was a temporary residence, and on
3 January 1639 he bought his well-known house in the Breestraat and
moved in on 1 May. The purchase of this property was to be a turning-
point in his financial fortunes, although at the time it did not seem an
unreasonable expense in view of his income and success which promised
further rewards. The house was acquired jointly from the original owner’s
son and son-in-law, Peter Belten jr and Christoffel Thijsz, both of whom
were wealthy merchants. Belten was also yet another partner in Van
Ulenborch’s art dealing firm. The contract specified that within a year
Rembrandt would repay in three instalments one-quarter of the purchase
price of 13,000 guilders, and that the remaining three-quarters would be
repaid when and as Rembrandt pleased within five or six years, but the
unpaid sum would attract interest at the rate of §9;. The cause of much of
Rembrandt’s future trouble was that he was never able to keep to these
terms.

No doubt Rembrandt was particularly happy to move back to the street
where he had spent his first years. His new house was situated next door to
Van Ulenborch’s, so their social intercourse could have known no bounds.
But as well as Van Ulenborch there were a number of other friends and
patrons in the street. The district had always had aristocratic inhabitants
and in the seventeenth century was gradually taken over by wealthy,
highly cultured Portuguese Jewish families, among whom was
Rembrandt’s friend Menasseh ben Israel. By the end of the century the
name of the street had been changed from the St Anthoniesbreestraat to the
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67 The front of Rembrandt’s house in the St Anthoniesbreestraat. Amsterdam

68 Rembrandt’s house in the Breestraat as it must have looked

Joden(Jews)breestraat. And in the way that fashion moves from one district
to another so this quarter, though still remaining predominantly Jewish,
has taken on an aspect of picturesque poverty. The flea market which is
now held round the corner would have been unthinkable in the
seventeenth century. At the end of the street was the Anthoniespoort (scen
in an ctching by Zeeman), one of the main exits from the city, and beyond
lay the open country of the Diemerdyke, leading to small towns such as
Diemen and Muiden.

Today the house, which had been builtin 1607, serves as a poor reminder
of its original occupant. Its former atmosphere is not suggested by the
modern panclling and the lack of contemporary furniture. More
important are the alterations which have been made to the exterior. Instead
of the cornice with a Classical pediment which we sce today, there was
originally a stepped gable in the manner of the earlier seventeenth-century
houses. This change, probably carried out a few years before Rembrandt’s
death, would hardly have pleased him if he could ever bring himself to
walk along the street where so much of his life had taken place.
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69 TiT1AN
Portrait of a Man, ¢. 1512

Financial difficulties were not his sole domestic worry. Two of their
children had already died and the third one born that year was to live an
even shorter time. Saskia must have despaired of giving birth to a child that
would live. The numerous drawings of her lying in bed may well signify
frequent illnesses. One of the most complete of these, a genre picture in
itself, shows Saskia lying in bed with hands clasped before her and her
features displaying weakness if not actual pain. At the foot of the bed on a
stool by the fireplace sits a nurse, one of those large round-faced
comforting bodies who whiles away her time knitting. At the head of the
bed there is an empty chair, clearly the master’s. The fireplace with
caryatids supporting the mantelpicce on the extreme left identifies the
scene as taking place in their new house. The drawing was probably made
shortly after they had moved in. Cornelia Il was born in July and a few
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70 Self-portrait, 1640
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weeks later was dead. It is not too far-fetched to identify Saskia’s unhappy
look with this painful cvent.

Onc of Saskia’s constant companions during these years was her sister,
Titia, who was married to Frangois Coopal, Commissioner in Middelburg,
brother of Frederick Henry’s secret agent. Titia was clearly her favourite
sister. She was witness in absentia at the baptism of Saskia’s first two
children and their fourth child Titus was named after his aunt. She
obviously spent much time in the Rembrandt houschold, and on one of
these occasions Rembrandt drew her portrait. It 1s a charmingly informal
study, the kind of drawing he might have made after dinner as the family
sat talking. Titia, head bent forward, is engrossed in her sewing, her pince-
nez propped on the end of her nose. Clearly the drawing gave pleasure, for
the artist wrote her name and the date underneath.

An unintended presentiment of what was to come occurs in the
curiously personal allegory of Death appearing to a Wedded Couple from an
Open Grave. The husband leads his wife towards the skeleton, who holds
up an hourglass to show that her time has come. The husband 1s about to
take farewell of his wife as she descends the steps to the grave. She is

71 Saskia’s Bedroom, c¢. 1639




72 Titia van Ulenborch
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73 Saskia Ill, ¢. 1642

clegantly dressed, in a decorative hat, and she holds a flower with all the
solemnity of an acolyte bearing a candle. Too soon to be relevant to the
artist’s own life, it probably refers to the death of the wife of a friend or
pupil.

Death certainly struck at Rembrandt’s and Saskia’s families. In the same
year as the death of their second daughter Rembrandt’s mother died. We
do not know how much mother and son saw of one another in later years.
Probably not very much since there are no records of any visits to Leiden,
and the mother was not named as a witness at the baptism of either her
second of third granddaughters, both of whom were named after her. The
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following year Titia died. But in September of that year there was one
great consolation, the birth of Titus, their only child to escape the net of
infant mortality.

Perhaps the birth of Titus was responsible for Saskia’s final illness. An
etching which must have been made about this time shows her in an
advanced stage of sickness. The plump cheeks of her earlier years are gone,
her face is thin, her cheeks hollow, and her expression haggard. On 14 June
1642 she died, eight years almost to the very day after they were married in
Friesland. She was buried five days later in the Oude Kerk.

Saskia made her will a few days before her death. By common law half
of their joint estate, which amounted to more than 40,000 guilders,
belonged to Rembrandt, although there is no indication how much of this
derived from Saskia’s inheritance and how much from Rembrandt’s
earnings. Saskia left her half to Titus, allowing Rembrandt the usufruct until
Titus either came of age or married, but the former would lose these
benefits should he remarry. Other clauses in the will testify to Saskia’s
complete confidence in Rembrandt, which must surely reflect the
harmony of their marriage. He was to remain the sole guardian of Titus.
He was exempted from accounting for the administration of the estate and
from preparing any inventory of possessions as she was certain that he
would carry out her wishes. The latter exemption proved shortsighted and
a list had to be hastily prepared five years later. And her final decree was
that the Chamber of Orphans, the usual guardians of such estates, was
specifically denied any involvement. Like so many wills made with the best
intentions it was the cause of much hardship to the very person it was
meant to favour.

Such was the pressure of domestic affairs during the three years before
Saskia’s death that Rembrandt would have had good cause to neglect his
art. But both the quantity and quality of the work he produced at this time
show that this is far from what happened. It was during this time that he
reached a turning-point in his career as an artist, and in the very year of
Saskia’s death painted his largest and most ambitious work.

A few doors away from the house that Rembrandt and Saskia inhabited
in the Nieuwe Doelenstraat stood the Kloveniersdoelen, which housed the
militia company of arquebusiers or musketeers. The front of the building
can be seen in the drawing, half-way down on the right, set back from the
road. The back of the house, which bordered the River Amstel, known at
this point as the Binnen Amstel, appears in a contemporary engraving. The
tower on the right in the engraving is one of the old fortifications of the
city, known as Zwijgt-Utrecht (Be silent Utrecht), which was the subject
of a later drawing by Rembrandt. To the immediate left is the handsome
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74 JacosB VAN MEURS
The Kloveniersdoclen, Amsterdam

75 ANON. The House of
Captain F. Banning Cocq




new wing of the Doelen only completed in 1636, which contained one of
the most spacious interiors in the city.

Although retaining some of their guard duties the militia companies had
in the years of relative peace become increasingly ceremonial in function.
Nevertheless they retained their image as the defenders of the city and its
privileges which they had done so much to achieve during the
establishment of the republic. At the time the company of arquebusiers was
under the command of Caprtain Frans Banning Cocq, a wealthy and
ambitious man without occupation, who lived in an unusually grand house
on the Singel, built by Hendrick de Keyser at the beginning of the century.
By an advantageous marriage he acquired wealth, property and titles, and
he rapidly established himself as a member of the city hierarchy, which
eventually led to a term as burgomaster. His rise in the militia was no less
speedy and his assumption of the command of the company took place
shortly after the completion of the new wing of the Doelen, which
between 1639 and 1645 was decorated with ecight militia groups. As well as
to Rembrandt, commissions were given to his former pupils, Backer and
Flinck, to the fashionable portrait painter Bartholomeus van der Helst and
to the German Joachim von Sandrart. Until their removal in the eighteenth
century, these eight canvasses provided the most impressive image of the
status of the militia, in which most of the rich and powerful of the city were
represented. This grand scheme of decoration was also to prove the
swansong of the militia, who within a decade had declined as a force in city
affairs.

The choice of Rembrandt among others was a clear acknowledgment of
his continuing standing as an artist in Amsterdam. This major commission
almost certainly given by December 1640 occupied him until at least the
middle of 1642. The picture, which has acquired the popular and incorrect
title of The Night Watch. shows, in the words of the commanding officer,

76 BARTHOLOMEUS vaN DER Herst The Company of Captain Roelof Bicker. 1639




77 ‘The Night Watch’, 1642

‘the young Heer van Purmerandt [Banning Cocq] as captain, ordering his
licutenant, the Heer van Vlaerdingen [Willem van Ruytenburch], to
march the company out’, during, we may add, daylight. Both the moment
it showed — this was no artificially posed group but a call to arms with real-
life extras such as dogs and children — and the subordination of portraiture
to the whole composition were revolutionary. We know cach sitter paid a
contribution consistent with his prominence in the picture, and we can be
sure that this kind of body would have been no less conservative than their
counterpart today. In fact no grumbles from the sitters have reached our
ears. On the contrary, Banning Cocq had a watercolour copy made for his
album, and two of his men testified on the artist’s behalf over fifteen years
later about the fee paid. Neither is the action of a dissatisfied client.
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Several contemporary critics attest to the picture’s importance in
Rembrandt’s ocuvre. Baldinucci twice says it was famous on the basis of
what Keil told him. Rembrandt’s pupil Samuel van Hoogstraten provides a
more circumstantial assessment of its virtues and failings. Although
believing that ‘it is not enough for a painter to place his figures next to each
other in a row, as can be found here in Holland all too often in the civic-
guard halls’, he criticized Rembrandt for an excess of originality in making
the picture ‘too much according to his own wishes’ rather than
concentrating on the individual portraits. Nevertheless Rembrandt’s
picture ‘will survive all its competitors because it is so painter-like in
thought, so ingenious in the varied placement of figures, and so powerful
that in comparison, according to some, all the other picces there (i.c., in
the Doelen) look like packs of playing cards.” In other words Rembrandt
stole the show, as a comparison with the ‘pack of playing cards’ produced
by Van der Helst all too clearly demonstrates.

Rembrandt transformed the traditional arrangement of a group of
portraits, bearing allusions to the sitters’ various duties in the company,
into a scene replete with action illustrating the role of each participant.
Apart from the seemingly naturalistic portrayal of the militia group itself,
Rembrandt has introduced a number of symbolic extras such as the girl
with the Kloveniers’ emblem of claws suspended at her waist, the drummer
whose presence refers to festive occasions and the varying positions in
which the muskets are held, taken from arms manuals of the period. The
massive archway in the background acts as a symbol of the city gate to be
defended, at the same time as it articulates the composition before it. It is a
work of rich Baroque complexity in which realism and symbolism are
skilfully combined in a masterly integration of movement, light and
colour, harmonized by an intricate pattern of chiaroscuro. In these respects
it represents the apogee in Rembrandt’s painting.

About the time Rembrandt moved into his new house in the Breestraat,
he began to look at the city around him, as well as the country and small
villages in the vicinity of Amsterdam. Landscape was not an entirely new
departure for him. He had already done a few paintings and some
drawings. But quite apart from being few in number, they lacked a sense of
locality. To judge by these works Rembrandt might have lived almost
anywhere in Holland. It was as if he suddenly woke up to the beauty and
character of his surroundings, and for approximately the next fifteen years
he threw himself into a passionate study, in drawing and etching with an
occasional painting, of not just impersonalized landscape but of a definite
locality. He analysed the city and its environs in a way that has been
cqualled in intensity only by Cézanne in Aix-en-Provence. To follow him
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in his walks even today, when so much has been destroyed or built over, is
one of the pleasures of Rembrandt ‘at home’.

What was the reason for this sudden awakening of interest? One can
guess that a small factor may have been the effect of ownership of property.
Rembrandt must have walked around Amsterdam hundreds of times and
probably often along the Breestraat through the Anthoniespoort and out
on to the Diemerdyke where he was surrounded by open country. But
hitherto he never felt a desire to record the landscape and the buildings he
saw. Perhaps in the way that ownership of a house inspires a direct interest
in one’s neighbourhood, so moving back to the Breestraat, but into a house
of his own, may have stimulated in Rembrandt a desire to record the
background of the human scene that he studied so exhaustively in his
drawings of the previous decade.

The anxicties of the domestic scene may also have contributed.
Rembrandt perhaps found in those wide open windy views around
Amsterdam a relaxation from the sickbed and a preparation for what fate
had in store for him. Again, the loneliness of his life for several years after
Saskia’s death may have been relieved by such outside activities. A
passionate study of landscape possibly oftered a welcome escapist world
removed from the scene of his unhappiness.

But if personal reasons for this new taste played their part, we can be sure
their contribution was only a small one. Artistic interests were far more
important. The new scarching, introspective mood was already seen in the
self-portrait of 1640. To achieve this Rembrandt developed a much simpler
style, eschewing theatrical gesture, and concentrating far more on
describing the inner emotion recalled in tranquillity. Landscape provided
an admirable means of reaching the desired goal. The myriad forms of
nature must of necessity be simplified by the landscape artist. Rembrandt
continued the process until his landscape was described by no more than a
tew strokes. By that time he had exhausted the subject and had achieved his
purpose.

An interest in landscape developed in Rembrandt’s work in the late
1630s, when apart from some drawings he produced a small group of
paintings mainly of imaginary mountainous scenery. These oftfered
fantasies in the spirit of Hercules Seghers, whose work Rembrandt
collected and admired, and who can be recognized as the primary source of
inspiration in this early phase of landscape. Occasionally the subject was
more realistic, as in the Landscape with a Stone Bridge, which was based on
the scenery of a tributary of the Amstel near Ouderkerk, a locality which
was shortly to provide such a rich seam of motifs. Nevertheless the realities
of the view are depicted in an unusual colour scheme and hidden beneath
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78 Landscape with a Stone Bridge, ¢. 1638

dramatically contrasting eftects of sunlight and stormclouds, found in
other landscapes of the period, and match the chiaroscuro of other
contemporary work. Thereafter in the few landscapes he painted,
Rembrandr kept to the imaginary, although his one very small example of
a Winter Landscape, painted i 1646, offers such a brilliant gem-like image
of ice and clear cold light that we are almost persuaded that it must have
been based on an actual view on a particular day. Significantly it provides
human interest hardly less important than the landscape itself.

The exploration of landscape was primarily carried out in prints and
drawings over the course of about thirteen years stretching from 1640 to
1653. The etchings were primarily made in two bursts of activity, from
1640 to 1645 and again from 1650 to 1653, whereas he was probably
making drawings over the whole of the period. In simplifying and
arranging the forms of the landscape Rembrandt started by placing the
centre of interest in the foreground and creating a sense of distance from
this point. In later works he removed his motif, frequently a farmhouse or

99



building set among trees, that ubiquitous feature of the Dutch countryside,
some way back in his composition. He presented a more measured and
monumental assessment of his theme by establishing space in the
foreground and providing atmospheric vistas to the sides. Instead of a
preoccupation with surface pattern he sought the effects of distance and air.

For drawing Rembrande started by using both chalk and the quill pen.
The former was a particularly suitable medium for the sketchbooks he used
in the carly years. Like his study of humanity he began with the raw
material outside his house. But he soon abandoned chalk for pen and at the
same time frequently changed from the quill, with its excellent deseriptive
line, to the soft broad stroke of the reed pen, which so admirably
summarized the extent and scale of the landscape. These later works
convey the very essence of space, light and atmosphere, the effects of which
were enhanced by freely applied areas of translucent washes, only added,
we may be sure, as the result of deliberate calculation. Unlike many of his
contemporaries, Rembrandt never used watercolour and confined himself
to cither black or brown ink, very occasionally employing a combination
of both. Sometimes in his late drawings the sheet of paper was prepared

79 Winter Landscape. 1646
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80 The Clump of Trees, 1652

with a pale coloured wash, which produced a unitying tone mellower than
the stark white of the actual paper.

In his landscape prints, Rembrandt began by using the etched line in
much the same way as he did the quill pen, although being finer he required
more lines for detail or emphasis, as can be seen in the ecarly View of
Amsterdam. The change to the reed pen for drawing was paralleled in his
prints by the introduction of drypoint, a process of drawing directly into
the copper plate. The furrows thrown up by the needle were retained to
print rich velvet textures, which by skilful manipulation could convey a
similar effect to that of the reed pen or an area of wash. This technique,
usually employed in a combination with etching, as for example in the
Goldweigher’s Field, was occasionally used by itself to memorable effect as
in The Clump of Trees. To obtain a similar quality to the drawings prepared
with washes, Rembrandt printed on a wide variety of diftferent papers.
Above all he chose oriental papers of varying thicknesses, which apart
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82 View of Amsterdam, c. 1640

from their yellowish colour, printed the accents of drypoint as a soft blur,
and enhanced the portrayal of landscape forms suffused in atmosphere. In
both his landscape prints and drawings all the technical resources were
brilliantly harnessed to realize the pictorial purpose, and examples of his
growing mastery are found in all aspects of his later works.

The practice of landscape invokes the question of whether the artist only
worked in his studio or whether he painted, etched or drew before the
motif, as was beginning to be done in the seventeenth century. Although it
cannot be doubted that all the known pictures by Rembrandt were
executed in the studio, there are tantalizing references in his inventory of
1656 to ‘one landscape’ and ‘some houses’, both described as ‘painted from
nature’. In the case of drawing it is likely that he followed both practices,
either working exclusively in or out of doors depending on the work in
hand, or sometimes starting before the subject and continuing in the studio,
especially when he added elaborate washes. Etching is a far less tractable
medium for outside work and the most we can probably envisage is that
occasionally he may have drawn the outlines on the grounded plate before
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83 The Bulwark on the West of Amsterdan, ¢. 1641

his motif. But work in drypoint could more casily be managed and it may
be that the first state of The Clump of Trees, that roughly gouged image of
bursting foliage, represents work before the subject, which was then
completed in the studio in its sccond stage. But wherever Rembrandt
worked, it can be clearly established that he took much of his subject matter
from the countryside around Amsterdam.

84 View over the
River Y from the e
Diemerdyke, ¢. 1650 =0 . .




Within an hour Rembrandt could reach on foot almost any site he drew,
and it is therefore impossible to say when he devoted his energies to one
particular motif. Style only acts as a broad guide. Varicty of purpose and
lack of all but a few fixed points make it nearly impossible to say with any
degree of conviction in what year an actual landscape drawing was done.

At first Rembrandt was more interested in landscape outside the city.
One of his earliest views is the etching of Amsterdam. To get this view
Rembrandt left the Anthoniespoort and walked in a north-casterly
direction until he reached the bastion ‘de Rijsenhoofd’, which was the
outermost bulwark of Amsterdam. Once outside this point he would have
reached the place from where he would have gained the view we see
reversed in the etching. We see from left to right the Haringpakkerstoren,
the Oude Kerk, Montelbaarnstoren, which Rembrandt was to draw on
later, the warchouses of the East and West India Companies, the windmill
on the Rijzenhoofd, which he had passed on his way, and finally the
Zuiderkerk.

On another occasion Rembrandt made a walk to the other side of
Amsterdam and drew the Blauwhoofd. This consisted of a windmill and
two cottages which can be seen on the map on the upper left. It was the first
bulwark on the west side of Amsterdam and was situated at a point where
the Prinsengracht now runs out into the River Y. In those days it
commanded wonderful views. On one side there was the harbour with its
forest of masts, and immediately near by shipbuilding yards. On the other
it looked over the River Y with its constant shipping, and beyond to the
open flat country to the north.
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85 View of Diemen, ¢. 1650

This open landscape clearly attracted Rembrandt, because at another
time, instead of going north-east immediately outside the Anthoniespoort,
he continued along the Diemerdyke towards Diemen. At the end of the
dyke he reached the River Y, from where he made two drawings of the
river to the north. (This view occurs as the background of another drawing
to be mentioned later.) In the distance across the river can be scen the
village of Spaarndam. Rembrandt wonderfully suggests the width of the
river with its translucent quality set against the opacity and solidity of the
river banks.

Quite often Rembrandt continued his walk past the Diemerdyke. After
the road reaches the river, it turns abruptly south until it reaches Diemen.
The church’s square tower, surmounted by a spire, is casily recognizable.
The village from every angle became one of the artist’s favourite subjects.
Here we see it from the north approaching along the road from
Amsterdam. It is high summer. The hay barn is full. A milkman carries his
churns along the road. Oxen plough the ficld. It is one of Rembrandt’s
most finished landscape drawings. Another walk which Rembrandt did
frequently throughout his ‘landscape years’ was along the banks of the
River Amstel to the village of Ouderkerk, the subject of an carlier painting.
Fortunately this can still be done today, either on foot, or better, by boat,
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86 View of the River Amstel from the Blauwbrug, Amsterdam, c. 1650

though the rapid growth of frankly ugly buildings this side of Amsterdam
threatens to close in on one of the preserves for those who wish to recapture
the atmosphere of former centuries.

One can start one’s walk at the Blauwbrug, the bridge across the Amstel
which in those days marked the south-eastern perimeter of the city. This
was Rembrandt’s starting-point, and he has left us three drawings of this
view. The present study was taken from the middle of the bridge. The river
stretches away towards Ouderkerk. Rembrandt suggests the width of the
water by the horizontal lines of the mooring quays which reach out into
midstream. On the left six boats are tied up, while in the middle of the river
a rowing-boat moves towards us.

Yielding to the immediate temptation to follow where one’s gaze is led
in the drawing, one soon reaches a point where a canal known as the
Ringvaart runs into the Amstel from the north side. A windmill and several
houses used to stand on the little tongue of land formed by the canal and
river, and were known as the Omval. Rembrandt drew this motif more
than once at quite different times of his career. He must have walked past it
very often. In the etching of 1645, the Omval is seen (in reverse) from the
other side of the river. The mouth of the canal can be made out between the
two windmills. Itis a lively scene. There are sailing-boats and rowing-boats
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87 The Omval, 1645

88 The Bend in the River Awmstel
with the House of Kostverloren
in the Trees, ¢. 1650
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on the far shore, while a stately barge covered with a canopy, perhaps
carrying a family on a Sunday afternoon outing, proceeds up the river. On
our side of the river a man stands and gazes, while, hidden in the foliage on
the left, a young man crowns his beloved with a garland.

Beyond the river twists and bends, so that walking along the bank one
has constantly changing views. About a mile farther up the river one used
to reach a house set among the trees on the river bank, known as
Kostverloren. This place more than any other was Rembrandt’s chosen
motif for drawing on the Amstel. The house had been burnt around the
middle of the century and was in ruins, as one of his drawings shows. (The
approximate place is marked today by the house called Amstelrust.)
Rembrandt explored every aspect of this particular site at all seasons of the
year. The present drawing is one of the most extensive views of this wide
curve of the river, with its rich profusion of trees on the bank hiding the
buildings. On the left the tower of Kostverloren can be made out against
the skyline. Here Rembrandt gives us a study of the light on the water and
trees. On other occasions it 1is the sculptural form which impresses.
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